

UNIVERSITY OF IOANNINA SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES FACULTY OF MEDICINE

SECTOR OF INTERNAL MEDICINE DEPARTMENT OF GASTROENTEROLOGY

Collagen morphometric analysis in liver biopsies of patients with chronic viral hepatitis (HCV or HBV) predicts virological response

ZOI E. TSIANOU MEDICAL DOCTOR - BIOLOGIST (BSc/MSci, MSc, MD, MRCP, MRCP Derm)

PhD THESIS

IOANNINA 2019



UNIVERSITY OF IOANNINA SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES FACULTY OF MEDICINE

SECTOR OF INTERNAL MEDICINE DEPARTMENT OF GASTROENTEROLOGY

Collagen morphometric analysis in liver biopsies of patients with chronic viral hepatitis (HCV or HBV) predicts virological response

ZOI E. TSIANOU MEDICAL DOCTOR - BIOLOGIST (BSc/MSci, MSc, MD, MRCP, MRCP Derm)

PhD THESIS

IOANNINA 2019

«Η έγκριση της διδακτορικής διατριβής από την Ιατρική Σχολή του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων δεν υποδηλώνει αποδοχή των γνωμών του συγγραφέα Ν. 5343/32, άρθρο 202, παράγραφος 2 (νομική κατοχύρωση του Ιατρικού Τμήματος)».

Ημερομηνία αίτησης της κ. Τσιάνου Ζωής: 20-3-2012

Ημερομηνία ορισμού Τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής: 733°/3-4-2012

Μέλη Τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής:

Επιβλέπων

Χριστοδούλου Δημήτριος, Επίκουρος Καθηγητή Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Μέλη

Τσιάνος Επαμεινώνδας, Καθηγητής Παθολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων Κατσάνος Κωνσταντίνος, Λέκτορας Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Ημερομηνία ορισμού θέματος: 24-4-2012

«Η μέτρηση του κολλαγόνου σε βιοψίες ήπατος ασθενών με χρόνια ιογενή ηπατίτιδα (Β ή C) ως μέσο για την πρόβλεψη της ιολογικής ανταπόκρισης»

Ημερομηνία ανασυγκρότησης της Τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής επιτροπής: 890°/7-5-2019

<u>Επιβλέπων</u>

Χριστοδούλου Δημήτριος, Καθηγητής Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

<u>Μέλη</u>

Τσιάρα Σταυρούλα, Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Παθολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Κατσάνος Κωνσταντίνος, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

ΟΡΙΣΜΟΣ ΕΠΤΑΜΕΛΟΥΣ ΕΞΕΤΑΣΤΙΚΗΣ ΕΠΙΤΡΟΠΗΣ 890°/7-5-2019

Γκλαβάς Ευριπίδης	Καθηγητής Αρχιτεκτονικής Ηλεκτρονικών Υπολογιστών του
	Τμήματος Πληροφορικής και Τηλεπικοινωνιών του
	Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων
Χρήστου Λεωνίδας	Καθηγητής Παθολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του
	Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων
Χριστοδούλου Δημήτριος	Καθηγητής Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του
	Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων
Κατσάνος Κωνσταντίνος	Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής Γαστρεντερολογίας του Τμήματος
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων
Τσιάρα Σταυρούλα	Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Παθολογίας του Τμήματος
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων
Τσίπουρας Μάρκος	Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής Ψηφιακής Επεξεργασίας Σήματος
	του Τμήματος Μηχανικών Πληροφορικής και
	Τηλεπικοινωνιών, του Πανεπιστημίου Δυτικής Μακεδονίας

Τζάλλας Αλέξανδρος

Επίκουρος Καθηγητής Βιοϊατρικής Τεχνολογίας με έμφαση στην Επεξεργασία και Ανάλυση Βιοϊατρικών Δεδομένων του Τμήματος Πληροφορικής και Τηλεπικοινωνιών του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Έγκριση Διδακτορικής Διατριβής με βαθμό «ΑΡΙΣΤΑ» στις 25-6-2019

Ιωάννινα 2-7-2019 ΠΡΟΕΔΡΟΣ ΤΟΥ ΤΜΗΜΑΤΟΣ ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗΣ Άννα Μπατιστάτου Καθηγήτρια Παθολογικής Ανατομίας

MANSHI Η Γραμματέας του Τμήματος ³ ΜΑΡΙΑ ΚΑΠΙΤΟΠΟΥΛΟΥ חות דרפו אנני

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my great appreciation to Professor Dimitrios Christodoulou and Associate Professor Konstantinos Katsanos who encouraged me to be involved with the subject of digital image analysis with the use of machine learning techniques, which is one of the applications of artificial intelligence, in medicine. This allowed me to broaden my knowledge on the field.

I am particularly grateful to Assistant Professor Alexandros Tzallas, Associate Professor Markos Tsipouras and Dr. Nikolaos Giannakeas for the valuable help to go deep into the subject of digital image analysis with the use of machine learning techniques, as well as to Senior Lecturer Pinelopi Manousou for her help in view of successfully completing my thesis. I also thank Professors Anna Batistatou and Anna Goussia as well as Assistant Professor Alexandra Papoudou-Bai for their important contribution.

Lastly and most importantly, I sincerely thank my family; my mother Eleni and my sisters Tina and Christina, and especially my father, Professor Emeritus Epameinondas Tsianos, and my brother Vasilis for all their help, support, guidance, valuable advice and encouragement, without which I wouldn't have been able to complete my thesis.

ΕΥΧΑΡΙΣΤΙΕΣ

Θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τον Καθηγητή κ. Δημήτριο Χριστοδούλου και τον Αναπληρωτή Καθηγητή κ. Κωνσταντίνο Κατσάνο οι οποίοι με ενθάρρυναν να ασχοληθώ με το θέμα της ψηφιακής ανάλυσης εικόνων με τη βοήθεια τεχνικών μηχανικής εκμάθησης, μία εκ των εφαρμογών τη ψηφιακής νοημοσύνης, στον τομέα της ιατρική που είχε ως αποτέλεσμα να αποκτήσω περισσότερες γνώσεις σε αυτόν τον τομέα.

Είμαι ιδιαίτερα ευγνώμων στον Επίκουρο Καθηγητή Αλέξανδρο Τζάλλα, Αναπληρωτή Καθηγητή Μάρκο Τσίπουρα και Νικόλαο Γιαννακέα για τη βοήθεια που μου έδωσαν στο να εμβαθύνω στη μέθοδο αυτή και στην Πηνελόπη Μανούσου για τη βοήθεια που μου προσέφερε ώστε να διεκπεραιώσω και να τελειοποιήσω τη διδακτορική διατριβή μου. Ευχαριστώ επίσης τις Καθηγήτριες Άννα Μπατιστάτου και Άννα Γούσια όπως και την Επίκουρη Καθηγήτρια Αλεξάνδρα Παπούδου-Μπάη για την σημαντική συμβολή τους.

Τέλος, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω εγκάρδια την οικογένειά μου· τη μητέρα μου Ελένη και τις αδερφές μου Τίνα και Χριστίνα, αλλά ιδιαίτερα τον πατέρα μου, Ομότιμο Καθηγητή κ. Επαμεινώνδα Τσιάνο και τον αδερφό μου Βασίλη για τη βοήθεια, στήριξη, καθοδήγηση, πολύτιμες συμβουλές και ενθάρρυνση, χωρίς τα οποία δε θα μπορούσα να φέρω εις πέρας τη διδακτορική διατριβή.

Z.T.

PREFACE

Machine learning focuses on how computers learn from the existing data with the use of statistics and computing algorithms. One of the main advantages of machine learning is that it constitutes an unbiased method of assessing information.

Predicting outcomes and recognizing features is already widely used in fields such as astronomy, finance and biology. Over the past two decades the use of computer-assisted analysis of biomedical data has dramatically increased. Machine learning techniques are constantly improving.

In medicine there are still some burdens, especially in trusting machines to complete a task that humans can do at high accuracy, as that of a human expert. Therefor, perhaps manand-machine tactic might be of benefit.



CONTENTS

List of abbreviations	i
A. INTRODUCTION AND AIM OF THE STUDY	1
CHAPTER A1: Liver Anatomy	1
CHAPTER A2: Liver Histology	9
CHAPTER A3: Viral Hepatitis B	13
CHAPTER A4: Viral Hepatitis C	23
CHAPTER A5: Liver Fibrosis and Cirrhosis	39
CHAPTER A6: Evaluation of Liver fibrosis	43
6.1. Histological grading and staging of fibrosis	43
6.2. Automatic quantification of liver fibrosis	48
CHAPTER A7: AIM OF THE STUDY	51
B. METHODS AND RESULTS	53
CHAPTER B1: Patient Cohort	53
CHAPTER B2: Study Protocol	55
CHAPTER B3: Statistical Analysis and obtained results	61
C. DISCUSSION AND CONCUSIONS	65
D. ABSTRACT	69
Ε. ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ (ΕΚΤΕΤΑΜΕΝΗ ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ) ΣΤΗΝ ΕΛΛΗΝΙΚΗ ΓΛΩΣΣ.	A71
F. REFERENCES	73

List of abbreviations

ALP: Alkaline Phosphatase ALT: Alanine Transferase anti-HBc: total Hepatitis B core Antiboby **APRI:** AST-to-Platelet Ratio Index **ARFI:** Acoustic Radiation Force Impulse **AST:** Aspartate Transaminase **CCC**: Concordance Correlation Coefficient **CDS**: Cirrhosis Discriminant Score **CPA**: Collagen Proportionate Area **DAAs:** Direct-acting Antiviral Agents **DIA**: Digital Image Analysis **DM**: Diabetes Mellitus DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid **DT**: Decision Trees **EIA**: Enzyme Immunoassays ETR: End of Treatment Response EVR: Early Virological Response FCM: Fuzzy C-Means H&E: Hematoxilin and Eosin HAI: Histology Activity Index HBeAg: Hepatitis B e-Antigen HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface Antigen HBV: Hepatitis B Virus HCC: Hepatocellular Carcinoma HCV: Hepatitis C Virus HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus HLA: Human Leukocyte Antigen IA: Image Analysis **IFN**: Interferon IgG: Immunoglobulin G IgM: Immunoglobulin M IVC: Inferior Vena Cava KM: K-Mean **KNN**: K Nearest Neighbor MRE: Magnetic Resonance Elastography **NB**: Naïve Bayes **NN**: Neural Network PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction PDGF: Platelet-Derived Growth Factor **RF**: Random Forests RGB: Red/ Green/ Blue RVR: Rapid Virological Response SVM: Support Vector Machines SVR: Sustained Virological Response TGF: Transforming Growth Factor TSH: Thyroid Stimulating Hormone

A. INTRODUCTION AND AIM OF THE STUDY

CHAPTER A1: Liver Anatomy

In human body, liver is considered as the largest gland and the second largest organ following the skin. It has an impressive range of synthetic, metabolic, haemopoietic and immunological activities and capacity for regeneration. It has an average weight of 1,5Kg. The normal liver is wedge-shaped, has a burgundy color, smooth surface and is soft-to-firm to touch. It is located at the right hypodiaphragmatic area, occupies the epigastric area and extends into part of the left hypodiaphragmatic area. (Figure 1) It is mostly protected by the rib cage, covered by parietal peritoneum and coated by a connective tissue layer, the Glisson's capsule¹. (Figure 2)



Figure 1: Surface anatomy of the liver. The liver's location, extent, relationship to the thoracic cage and range of movements with change of position and diaphragmatic excursion².



Figure 2: Anatomy of the liver¹.

The main gateway of the liver, or porta hepatis, is a transverse fissure through which the common hepatic artery and the hepatic portal vein are entering the liver and the common hepatic duct emerges from the liver. (Figure 3) Lymphatic vessels and a branch of the vagus nerve also pass through. The first three strictures are so called portal triad and each of them are subdivided to right and left branches.



Figure 3: Intrahepatic vascular and biliary anatomy, anterior view³.

The liver is traditionally anatomically divided into four lobes; the right, the left, the caudate and the quadrate⁴. (Figure 4) Surgeons prefer to divide it into eight segments based mostly on the vascular supply and biliary drainage⁵. (Figure 5) There are many other anatomical divisions, such as the hemilivers, divided in discrete 'halves' on a functional basis¹. Proposed systems, though, are those of Couinaud, based on the distribution of portal and hepatic veins, and Healey and Schroy, based on the distribution of bile ducts⁴.





Figure 4: The anatomical lobes of the liver (google image - https://teachmeanatomy.info/abdomen/viscera/liver/)



Figure 5: The location of the principal hepatic veins and the relationship of the hepatic veins to the functional anatomy of the liver¹.

The liver is subdivided into liver lobules, which are polygonal structures consisted of hepatocytes. Every one of the six corners of the lobules has a branch of portal triad⁴.

Between the liver lobules there are the liver sinusoids. Within their walls there are stellate (or hepatic) macrophages the roll of which is to remove debris from the passing blood. In the center of the each lobule runs the central vein, which drains to the hepatic vein draining directly to the inferior vena cava (IVC). (Figure 6)



Figure 6: Microscopic anatomy of the liver. (a) Classic lobular pattern of a pig liver. (b) Enlarged view of one liver lobule. (c) Three-dimensional representation of a small portion of one liver lobule, showing the structure of sinusoids. Arrows indicate the direction of blood flow⁵.

Blood and oxygen supply are mainly from the portal vein and the hepatic artery. About 1.5 liters of blood have been estimated being received by the liver per minute. The portal vein provides about 80% of the inflow with the remaining 20% being provided by the hepatic artery. This blood then enters the hepatic sinusoids, where it undergoes filtering including a considerable reduction in oxygen saturation, being an important source of oxygen to the hepatocytes. The deoxygenated blood returns to the circulation by the hepatic veins to the inferior vena cava¹.

Liver lymphatic channels are divided in superficial and deeply situated networks. The superficial lymphatic plexus lies inside the Glisson's capsule. The superficial lymphatics from the anterior part of the liver drain into the hepatic node, which transmits to the coeliac nodes, where most of the ones on the posterior part accompany the inferior vena cava, reach the posterior mediastinal lymph nodes and drain into the thoracic duct.

The deep liver lymphatics are also further subdivided to ascending and descending trunk. The ascending trunks drain to the posterior mediastinal lymph nodes and the descending trunks to the hepatic nodes¹.

The liver produces bile, which runs through the biliary ducts (right and left) that join to the common hepatic duct, which, together with the cystic duct, creates the common bile duct².

Innervation of the liver is consistent by sympathetic, parasympathetic (cholinergic) and adrenergic nerve fibers. Sympathetic and adrenergic fibers form a plexus mainly around the blood vessels and in a lesser extent the bile ducts along the sinusoidal walls⁴. (Figure 7)



Figure 7: Lymphatic drainage and innervation of liver. A. The liver is a major lymph-producing organ. Lymph from the liver flows in two directions: that from the upper liver flows to lymph nodes located superiorly in the thorax; that from the lower liver flows to nodes located inferiorly in the abdomen. B. The hepatic plexus, the largest derivative of the celiac plexus, accompanies the branches of the hepatic artery to the liver conveying sympathetic and parasympathetic fibers².

CHAPTER A2: Liver Histology

Histologically the liver is divided into stroma and parenchyma. The stroma is consistent of connective tissue capsule, trabeculae and reticular network. The parenchyma is consistent of hepatocytes, blood vessels and bile ducts.

The hepatic lobule was classically described as a hexagon with a central vein at the center and portal tracts at three corners. (Figure 6 and 8) The main cells that the liver is compromised of are the hepatocytes. They constitute about 80% of the liver volume. Those are cells with a polygonal shape and either one have two spherical nuclei. They are arranged in plates and radiate from the center to the periphery. The hepatocytes cytoplasm is rich in mitochondria, lysosomes, well-developed Golgi apparatus and glycogen. These features indicate a high metabolic activity.



Figure 8: Schematic drawing of the liver architecture. At the left is the classic hepatic lobule, with the central vein as its center and portal tracts at three corners. Toward the middle is the portal unit, with the portal tract at its center, and central veins and nodal points at its periphery. At the right is the liver acinus, the center of which is the terminal afferent vessel and the periphery of which is drained by the terminal hepatic venule, or central vein. Zones 1, 2, and 3 extending from the portal tract to the terminal hepatic venule are shown. CV, central vein; N, nodal point; P, portal tract; THV, terminal hepatic venule⁴.

Between the hepatic plates there are the sinusoidal cells, which are the prime barrier between hepatocytes and the blood. Those are mainly endothelial cells that have fenestrations, the size of which differs in the lobular periphery from that in the center. The pore size is controlled by contraction of actin filaments, which are within the endothelial cells.

One other type of cells that line sinusoids, are the Kupffer cells. Those are macrophage cells with a capacity to phagocytize large particles. Their activity, size and number are higher in the periportal region with a main role to detoxicate blood from senescent red blood cells and endogenous and exogenous substances.

Other perisinusoidal cells are the hepatic stellate cells. Those are also known as fat-storing cells, perisinusoidal lipocytes or "Ito cells". Their role includes vitamin A storage and fat metabolism. They also play significant role in hepatic fibrogenesis.

Between the sinusoids and the hepatocytes there is a space that contains plasma and collagen and scanty connective tissue and is called space of Disse, which acts as scaffold. (Figure 9) Between the periportal hepatocytes and portal connective tissue disease there is another space, the space of Mall. The first space passes the lymphatic fluid to the second, which then drains into the lymphatic vessels⁴.



Figure 9: The spatial relationship among the different cell types of the liver. Sinusoidal plasma comes in direct contact with hepatocytes in the space of Disse. The endothelial cells are fenestrated and lack a basement membrane. Kupffer cells are located in the lumen of the sinusoid, where they are in direct contact with the sinusoidal endothelial cells and portal blood. Stellate cells are situated between the endothelial cells and hepatocytes, and come in direct contact with both cell types. The hepatocytes are joined with each other by tight junctions and the communicating gap junctions. The canalicular domain of the plasma membrane of two adjacent hepatocytes encloses the bile canaliculus⁴.

The blood flow with the liver lobules is from the periphery to the center where bile flows in the opposite direction.

Another functional unit of liver is the hepatic acinus. This is defined by three concentric regions of hepatic parenchyma surrounding an artery in the center. (Figure 10) Functionally, based on oxygen supply, the liver acinus is divided into 3 zones. Zone 1 is around the portal tracts where the entrance of the oxygenated blood from hepatic arteries is. Zone 2 is the intermediate zone and zone 3 is adjacent to the central vein where oxygenation is poor.

One more functional liver unit is the portal lobule. (Figure 10) It has triangular shape and can be visualized by the imaginary space created by lines that connect central veins of three adjacent liver lobules. That contains a portal triad at the center. Each portal triad contains a bile duct branch, a hepatic artery branch, a portal vein branch and lymphatic channels embedded in connective tissue. There are also few lymphocytes, macrophages and mast cells.



Figure 10: Portal lobule – functional liver unit⁶.

The hepatocytes from the one side they border the sinusoid and from the other with canaliculus. That is an intercellular space with a diameter of about 1 μ m. Canals of Hering are the terminal canals were the bile canaliculi direct the bile to. Those are lined by hepatocytes and cholangiocytes and then pass the bile to the bile ductules, which are entirely lined by cholangiocytes. These are, in turn, connected further with the interlobular bile ducts, followed by the septal bile ducts connecting to the hepatic bile duct⁴.

CHAPTER A3: Viral Hepatitis B

257 million people are estimated to be chronically infected worldwide by hepatitis B virus $(HBV)^7$. This number has declined significantly since the introduction of universal vaccination in 1990s. Of those, 15% to 45% is expected to experience severe consequences such as liver cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) requiring liver transplantation or death.

Vaccines have been available since 1980s, though perinatal and early life exposures continue to be in the developing world major sources of infection. This is thought to be due to limited resources for vaccination on newborns⁴.

HBV is more prevalent in sub-Saharian Africa and Southeast Asia. The mean incubation period is 60 to 90 days. The onset can be insidious or acute. It is most prevalent in young adults with sexual and percutaneous transmission as well as babies and toddlers⁸. The virus is 50 to 100 times more infectious than Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and 10 times as hepatitis C virus (HCV)⁴.

Clinically HBV can occasionally be severe. Hepatitis fulminant can be seen in 0.1 to 1% of the infected individuals. 1 to 10% will progress to chronic hepatitis though in neonates that number reaches 90%. The prognosis has been found to be worse with age.

Pathogenesis and Natural History

The pathogenesis and severity of HBV-associated liver disease is considered to be related to the intensity of the host immunological response to the virus. This response encompasses both an innate and an adaptive immune response.

During the acute infection, the majority of the HBV DNA molecules are rapidly cleared from the liver by cytokines mediated mechanism of the innate immune system. In contrast, in chronic hepatitis B infection there is infrequent and weak HBV-specific T-cell response⁴.

The natural history of HBV infection has been described to have four phases: the immune tolerance, the immune clearance, the inactive carrier and the reactivation phase. All four phases are more apparent in patients with acquisition of chronic hepatitis B early in life⁴. (Figure 11)



Figure 11: Natural history of chronic HBV infection⁴.

If hepatitis B remains untreated on the active phase, cirrhosis might develop in up to 20% of the cases. Risk factors are older age, male gender, the stage of fibrosis at presentation as well as combined infection with other hepatitis or HIV as well as concomitant alcohol abuse. After the development of cirrhosis, hepatic compensation may develop in 5% to 8% of the cases and HCC in 2% to 4% of the cases. Population-based Asian cohort studies have shown that the serum HBV DNA level is the single best predictor of future progression to cirrhosis and HCC⁴. (Table 1)
PHASE	1	2	3	4
New terminology	HBeAg positive Chronic <u>infection</u>	HBeAg positive Chronic <u>hepatitis</u>	HBeAg negative Chronic <u>infection</u>	HBeAg negative Chronic <u>hepatitis</u>
Old terminology	Immune tolerant	HBeAg-positive CHB	Inactive carrier	HBeAg-negative CHB
HBsAg	High	High/Intermediate	Low	Intermediate
HBeAg	Positive	Positive	Negative	Negative
HB∨ DNA	>10E7 IU/mL	10E4-10E7 IU/mL	<2,000 IU/mL*	>2,000 IU/mL
ALT	Normal	Elevated	Normal	Elevated**
Liver disease	None/minimal	Moderate/severe	None	Moderate/severe
Disease progression	Low	Moderate to high	No, very low	Moderate to high
Treatment	Not indicated***	Indicated	Not indicated	Indicated

* HBV-DNA levels can be between 2,000 and 20,000 IU/mL in some patients without signs of chronic hepatitis

** Persistently or intermittently

*** Treatment is indicated in some patients

Table 1: Natural history of HBV and treatment indications⁹.

Symptoms of acute infection include nausea, vomiting, malaise, as well as fever, arthralgia or arthritis and rash (most commonly maculopapular or urticarial) in about 10% to 20% of the patients. Jaundice is a feature in only 30% of the patients.

Usually signs and symptoms together with elevated serum ALT levels and HBsAg titers disappear in most of the cases after 1 to 3 months of the onset of illness⁴. (Figure 12)



Figure 12: Scheme of typical clinical and laboratory features of HBV. ALT, alanine and aminotransferase⁸.

During acute illness, levels of 1000 to 2000 U/L are typical for serum aminotransferases. ALT levels tend to be higher that AST levels. Regarding prognosis, that tends to be mostly correlated with the prothrombin time rather than the aminotransferase levels⁴.

Patients who develop chronic HBV infection usually lack a history of acute hepatitis. They might remain symptom free even during reactivation periods. In physical examination, hepatosplenomegaly may be evident and in the development of decompensated cirrhosis common clinical signs are jaundice, spider telangiectasias, ascites and peripheral oedema. In prolongation of the prothrombin time, alongside with hypoalbuminemia in absence of nephropathy, and hypersplenism, someone should suspect progression to cirrhosis. In advanced cirrhosis serum AST levels are higher that ALT.

Acute flares play an important role on the natural history of the disease as, if they occur repeatedly, can lead to histological progression⁴.

<u>Diagnosis</u>

HBsAg can be detected in serum 2 to 10 weeks after exposure to the virus and it is usually before the onset of the symptoms and elevation of ALT. If HBsAg remains detectable for over than 6 months, that implies evolution to chronicity.

Several weeks after the disappearance of HBsAg from the serum follows the appearance of anti-HBs, which can persist for life and provide long-term immunity⁴.

During the window period that HBsAg has disappeared and anti-HBs has not appeared yet, the diagnosis is made by the detection of IgM anti-HBc, which usually remains for 4 to 6 months after an acute episode and can be used as a surrogate for active viral replication. (Figure 12) IgG anti-HBc is normally found during the recovery period from acute hepatitis, as well as during exacerbations of chronic infection. Anti-HBc can be isolated in serum of 1-4% of general population on low endemic areas and up to 50% in high endemic areas with only 10-30% having detectable HBV DNA. Understandably, recognizing false positive test results has very high clinical importance⁴.

HBeAg is another viral protein that can be detected early in serum in acute HBV infections. It normally disappears around the time that serum aminotransferase levels peak, but if persistent that indicates high chance of chronicity. If found in serum of HBsAgpositive carrier, that indicates high level of viral replication and infectivity⁴.

The DNA of the hepatitis B virus is mostly measured with quantitative PCR method and it is used to evaluate if a patient is a candidate for antiviral therapy, as well as monitor response to treatment. Qualitative PCR methods are also available and can be an even more sensitive method though, that has a limited clinical role and the technique lacks from standardization.

Histopathological features in hepatitis B

Periportal mononuclear cell infiltration is a characteristic feature in chronic HBV infection. Inflammatory cells can be seen between collagenous extensions from the portal tracts and liver parenchyma, referred as active septa. Lobular inflammation is more prominent during reactivated HBV.

Specific histologic feature of chronic hepatitis B seen on light microscopy is the presence of ground glass hepatocytes. That is a result of accumulation of HBsAg particles that are reach in cysteine which increases the affinity in certain dyes, such as Victoria blue, aldehyde

fuchsin and orcein. HBcAg were also found in the hepatocyte nuclei with electron microscopy and immunofluorescence studies⁴. (Figure 13) It is important to note that after successful treatment of HBV infection (with a nucleoside analog), the cytoplasmic core antigen often disappears, but nuclear core antigen staining may remain due to persistence of HBV cccDNA transcriptional template.

Steatosis is a feature of chronic hepatitis C rather than hepatitis B.



Figure 13: Histopathology of HBV infection. A: Ground-glass inclusions in hepatocytes. These represent large amounts of HBsAg (hepatitis B surface antigen) in the endoplasmic reticulum. (H&E x630). B: Immunohistochemistry for HBsAg⁴.

<u>Treatment</u>

There are seven approved drugs available for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B, five of which are nucleoside analogs. Their role is to suppress HBV replications by acting on the viral DNA polymerase. Their bioavailability and safety profile is much better than interferon, the first available treatment, which is now much less frequently used.

There are many parameters that are taken into consideration in view of deciding the most appropriate treatment agent. Amongst those are the serum ALT and HBV DNA level, the liver histology, the treatment expense, the patient's age and comorbidities as well as the potential adverse events⁴.

In developing countries that there are financial restraints and limited availability, lamivudine and adefovir are the most commonly used first-line therapeutic agents. Interferon (IFN) is of high value as well, as the length of treatment is not more than a year with durable virologic response⁴.

Treatment-naïve patients are usually treated with one or more nucleoside analogs with 70-85% success rates after the first year of treatment.

The available oral nucleoside and nucleoside analogs have excellent resistance profiles and lack of side effects. After HBeAg seroconversion, a minimum of 6 months treatment has been recommended by all international liver societies.

In most of the cases, lamivudine is no longer first-line treatment due to high resistance rates. It is still considered as a short-term therapy, especially in patients undergoing chemotherapy as well as in developing countries.

Lamivudine-resistant cases were initially treated with adefovir (potentially nephrotoxic), which has more recently grossly been replaced by tenofovir.

Entecavir is a more potent nucleoside analogue with good benefits of long term use, such as progressive regression of fibrosis, reversal of cirrhosis and decrease HCC incidence.

Telbivudine was found to be more potent than lamivudine but has a very high rate of resistance so had fallen out of favour to be used as monotherapy and can be used as a good alternative to adenofovir/tenofovir in patients with renal impairment.

Emtricitabine is structurally similar to lamivudine but has not been clinically approved.

Interferon is mainly used in pegylated forms (*IFN-a*) as it is better tolerated and has higher antiviral potency. It has been approved by FDA for 48 weeks of treatment, though it has limited use in patients with cirrhosis as flare ups of ALT may occur during therapy. Interferon has not shown drug resistance, unlike nucleoside analogs. **(Table 2)**

Nucleoside analogs and interferon have also shown differences in viral kinetics and gives a rational for combined treatment.

Fortunately, treatment with nucleoside analogs has been shown to be safe and there has been remarkable decline in the need for liver transplantation in patients with cirrhosis⁴.

\mathbf{n}
v

Drug	Dose in Adults*	Use in Children*	Pregnancy Category ⁺	Potential Side Effects [†]	Monitoring on Treatment [‡]
Preferred					
Peg-IRN-α-2a (adult) IFN-α-2b (children)	180 mcg weekly	≥1 year dose: 6 million IU/m ² three times weekly [§]	С	Flu-like symptoms, fatigue, mood disturbances, cytopenia, autoimmune disorders in adults, anorexia and weight loss in children	Complete blood count (monthly to every 3 months) TSH (every 3 months) Clinical monitoring for autoimmune, ischemic, neuropsychiatric, and infectious complications
Entecavir	0.5 mg daily ^{li}	≥2 years dose: weight-based to 10-30 kg; above 30 kg: 0.5 mg daily ^{ll}	С	Lactic acidosis (decompensated cirrhosis only)	Lactic acid levels if there is clinical concern Test for HIV before treatment initiation
Tenofovir dipovoxil fumarate	300 mg daily	≥12 years	В	Nephropathy, Fanconi syndrome, osleomalacia, lactic acidosis	Creatinine clearance at baseline If at risk for renal impairment, creatinine clearance, serum phosphate, urine glucose, and protein at least annually Consider bone density study at baseline and during treatment in patients with history of fracture or risks for osteopenia Loctic acid levels if there is clinical concern Test for HIV before treatment initiation
Tenofovir alafenamide	25 mg daily	_	There are insufficient human data on use during pregnancy to inform a drug-associated risk of birth defects and miscarriage.	Lactic acidosis	Lactic acid levels if dinical concern Assess serum creatinine, serum phosphorus, creatinine clearance, urine glucose, and urine protein before initiating and during therapy in all patients as clinically appropriate Test for HIV before treatment initiation
Nonpreferred					
Lamivudine	100 mg daily	≥2 years dose: 3 mg/kg daily to max	С	Pancreatitis Lactic acidosis	Amylase if symptoms are present Loctic ocid levels if there is clinical concern
Adefovir	10 mg daily	≥12 years	С	Acute renal failure Fanconi syndrome Lactic acidosis	Creatinine clearance at baseline If at risk for renal impairment, creatinine clearance, serum phosphote, urine glucose, and urine protein at least annually Consider bone density study at baseline and during treatment in patients with history of fracture or risks for osteopenia Lactic acid levels if dinical concern
Telbivudine	600 mg daily	_	В	Creatine kinase elevation and myopathy Peripheral neuropathy Lactic acidosis	Credine kinase if symptoms are present Clinical evaluation if symptoms are present Lactic acid levels if there is clinical concern

*Dose adjustments are needed in patients with renal dysfunction. ¹In 2015, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration replaced the pregnancy risk designation by letters A, B, C, D, and X with more specific language on pregnancy and lactation. This new labeling is being phased in gradually, and to date only TAF includes these additional data.

additional data. ⁴Per package insert. ⁵Peg-IFN- α -2a is not approved for children with chronic hepatitis B, but is approved for treatment of chronic hepatitis C. Providers may consider using this drug for children with chronic HBV. The duration of treatment indicated in adults is 48 weeks. ¹Entecavir dose is 1 mg daily if the patient is lamivudine experienced or if they have decompensated cirrhosis. Abbreviation: TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone.

Table 2: Approved antiviral therapies in adults and children¹⁰.

Response to treatment

When assessing response to treatment we are looking at the biochemical, virologic and histologic response. The desirable results are normalization of ALT levels, disappearance of HBV DNA from serum for at least 6 months after treatment and 2-point or greater improvement in the necroflammatory score without worsening fibrosis respectively.

"Irrespective of the type of antiviral therapy used, the best assurance that late relapses will not occur is provided by the disappearance of HBsAg, with or without seroconversion to anti-HBs; the occurrence comes closest to a clinical cure of hepatitis B."⁴.

Monitoring is recommended every 4 months during the first year of treatment and once HBV DNA level is less than 2000 IU/ml or undetectable that can be extended to 6 months. In case of treatment failure or virologic rise patients should be carefully questioned regarding drug adherence. Drug resistance should of course be considered as well. There are certain mutations that have been identified and could be detected by reverse hybridization assay⁴.

Immunoprophylaxis

Immunization can be either passive using HBIG (from plasma with high titers of anti-HBs) or active using inactive HBsAg. The lesser gives long-term immunity.

The currently marketed HBV vaccines use recombinant DNA technology with introduction of the HBsAg gene into a yeast genome. No serious side effects have been reported. 100% protection can be achieved with antibody titers greater than 100 mIU/ml⁴. Vaccination is typically scheduled for months 0, 1, and 6. In case of mucous, percutaneous or ocular exposure, post-exposure vaccination is strongly recommended.

CHAPTER A4: Viral Hepatitis C

Worldwide, more than 200 million people have been infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV)⁴. Globally, it is estimated that 71 million people have chronic HCV, a significant number of which develop cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with an approximate of 399.000 dying each year⁷. In Europe and the United states HCV related complications are the leading indication for liver transplantation⁴. There is no available vaccination currently, though research is ongoing⁷.

The only chronic viral infection that can be cured with treatment is HCV^{11} . Antiviral treatments can cure more than 95% of the infected individuals⁷. Sustained virological response (SVR), defined as the absence of HCV RNA in serum 3 - 6 months after treatment cessation, is almost always associated with long-lasting eradication of the virus^{12,13}.

Treatment with IFN-a and ribavirin has accomplished 60-90% SVR on patient infected with genotype 2 and 3 of the virus. Ongoing progress on the studying of the virus and its mechanism of action has led to the development of new therapeutic agents, achieving cure rates above $90\%^4$.

The HCV is a single stranded enveloped RNA virus with a diameter of 50nm and belongs to the Flaviviridae family, member of the Hepacivirus genus¹⁴. The virus replicates mainly at the hepatocytes. It attaches to the cell wall and its presumed to enter with endocytosis⁴. It then moves to the endoplasmic reticulum were viral particles are formed with interaction with the genomic RNA. Those are then released and either infect adjacent hepatocytes or enter the circulation¹⁵.

Genotypes and quasispecies

There is great heterogeneity noted at the HCV genome due to the high mutational rate of the virus, as well as the quasispecies generation^{4,16}.

A high number of virions, up to 10^{12} , are produced per day¹⁷. It has been estimated that for every 10^4 to 10^5 nucleotides that are copied one error occurs. Every genetic variant is created in a single cell and that may or may not infect the other liver cells, leading to genetic variation in the liver, serum as well as extrahepatic sites. Due to the huge genetic

differences, the classification of the viral sequences includes a genotype and subtype. There are 6 major genotypes and more than 70 subtypes¹⁶. The HCV genotype does not change over time, thus it only needs to be determined once in an infected person.

There are geographic and racial differences in the distribution and prevalence of HCV genotypes. Genotype 1b is the most prevalent in Europe, followed by 1a, 3 and 2¹⁸. The distribution of genotypes is changing over time with immigration, as well as with alterations of the viral transmission modes. Response to treatment is an important clinical association with HCV genotype; however HCV genotype does not seem to have an impact on the severity of liver disease⁴.

Generation of quasispecies, as already mentioned, is thought to be accounting too to the genetic heterogeneity of HCV. Viral quasispecies are defined as collections of closely related viral genomes subjected to a continuous process of genetic variation¹⁹. By this mechanism, the virus may be escaping the host's immune response leading to persistent viral infection²⁰. The lack of quasispecies has been associated with clearance of the virus, where the existence of multiple quasispecies with viral persistence²¹. Moreover, larger number of quasispecies has been linked with more rapid progression to liver cirrhosis²².

Incidence and Prevalence

It has been estimated that the origins of HCV are from western and sub-Saharian Africa²³. There is marked geographic variation at the HCV prevalence with an increase noted in the years between 1990 and 2010²⁴. The prevalence was also noted to be higher in males and in African Americans. Injection drug use, blood transfusion or solid organ transplant before 1992, more than 50 lifetime sexual partners as well as coming from a family with below the poverty level income, are amongst the main risk factors for HCV infection²⁵. The increased incidence recorder in the beginning of the millennium is expected to decline by 2030⁴.

Transmission

The HCV can be transmitted percutaneously, with blood transfusion and needle stick inoculation, and non-percutaneously, with sexual contact and perinatal exposure. The implementation of HCV blood screening in 1992 has markedly decreased, basically eliminated, the incidence of transfusion acquired HCV infection^{4,26}.

The major route of HCV infection has always been injection drug use, with a frequency ranging form 57% to $90\%^{25}$. Despite the overlap between risk factors with HBV and HIV infections, the HCV prevalence remains the highest amongst the three.

Transmission rates to health care workers from infected patients range between 0.3% and 4%. There are many risk factors contributing to that, including the type of needle, the depth of injury, the volume of the inoculum, the viral load, the HIV status as well as the adherence or not to universal precautions^{27–29}. At the moment, there is still no treatment available for postexposure prophylaxis.

Regarding sexual transmission of HCV, only a 10% to 20% of patients have reported this as their only risk factor⁴. Furthermore, it was shown that in monogamous, heterosexual relationships with avoidance of sexual intercourse during menstruation, as well as anal sex, the risk of transmission is almost zero³⁰. High risk sexual practices, though, as well as HIV positivity can increase the incidence of HCV infection^{31,32}.

The perinatal transmission risk of HCV infection is low in comparison with the high risk of HBV infection. It varies between 5.1% and 6.7%, with two to three times higher incidence in HIV-HCV coinfected patients^{33,34}. There is not much convincing evidence regarding differences between vaginal delivery and caesarian section in HCV transmission, though in many authorities elective caesarian section is recommended before membrane rupture³³. Breastfeeding by mothers infected by HCV is considered to be generally safe^{18,35}. Serologic testing for anti-HCV is not recommended though before 18 months of age as this can be acquired passively and persist, leading to diagnostic confusion⁴.

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of liver damage is mostly immune mediated. It includes an initial innate and subsequent adaptive response. HCV infected patients have variable immune response and although this is inadequate to eradicate the acute infection, it appears to control how strong the persistent infection will be.

<u>Acute Hepatitis C</u>

Acute hepatitis C infection accounts for about 20% of the acute hepatitides, though it is rarely seen in clinical practice, as the majority of cases are asymptomatic.

HCV RNA can be detected in serum one to three weeks after viral transmission, though incubation period may vary between different routes of transmission³⁶. Following the initial rapid increase of HCV RNA in serum, ALT increases four to twelve weeks after the initial infection, reaching level of more than ten times of the upper limit of normal. (Figure 14) Bilirubin levels increase in serum on the same time³⁷.

Acute hepatitis C appears to be more severe in patients with alcohol abuse and HBV or HIV coinfection. Parameters that have been noted to increase the risk of chronicity include older age and male gender. Spontaneous clearance has been found to be higher in symptomatic patient during the acute phase. Moreover, there has been found to be genetic association with the outcome of acute hepatitis³⁸.



Figure 14: Acute HCV infection course followed by recovery⁴.

<u>Chronic Hepatitis C</u>

In chronic hepatitis C serum ALT levels are normally elevated, though they tend to fluctuate, with up to 50% of the patients having a normal ALT level at any given time³⁹. This is more common in females and has been associated with lower serum HCV RNA as well as less, histologically proven, hepatic inflammation and fibrosis.

Most patients remain asymptomatic in chronic HCV infection. Symptoms may include myalgias, arthralgias, nausea, sicca syndrome and anorexia.

Extrahepatic manifestations

Extrahepatic manifestations of HCV infection that may occur include amongst others autoimmune thyroiditis, B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma⁴⁰, lichen planus, mixed cryoglobulinemia⁴¹, monoclonal gammopathies and porphyria cutanea tarda. These may have an impact on the overall survival⁴.

DIAGNOSIS

HCV infection can be detected and monitored with several molecular and immunological assays. Anti-HCV with high serum titers indicates exposure but cannot distinguish between acute, chronic or resolved infection. For diagnosis, serologic assays are used in first instance followed by virologic assays to confirm infection and monitor response to treatment.

Indirect assays

Antibodies against different HCV antigens can be detected with enzyme immunoassays (EIA). There are so far three generation of EIAs. The last generation can detect anti-HCV core antibody as early as seven weeks after infection, with sensitivity and specificity rates reaching 99%⁴². Positive patient should then undergo HCV RNA testing to establish whether they have active viremia⁴.

Direct Assays

HCV RNA tests are highly sensitive, quantitative methods and the gold standard for the detection of HCV viremia⁴³. Another type of available assays is the transcription-mediated amplifications. Those are extremely sensitive and can detect positivity within one to 3 weeks after infection, though those are not quantitative in the lower range of the test. Unfortunately, the available quantitative tests are non comparable between different assays, so the same laboratory and the same assay should be used throughout antiviral treatment.

The HCV core antigen assay is another alternative method for confirmation of viremia. The advantages are that it is faster and cheaper, though it lacks sensitivity⁴.

<u>Genotype</u>

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) and direct sequencing of NS5B or E1 region are the most accurate methods for the identification of HCV genotype. Unfortunately this is not practical in the clinical setting. An alternative method is identifying type-specific antibodies. This has shown to have a 90% concordance when compared with sequence analysis. Other alternative assays include PCR amplification, restriction fragment length polymerase analysis as well as reverse hybridization, which have shown a concordance of 92% to 96%. The most popular commercial assay is a line probe assay called INNO-LiPA. This uses genotype specific probes for reverse transcription of the 5' portion of the HCV genome. Amongst all genotypes, type 1 has the highest identification accuracy.

A negative EIA result is sufficient to exclude HCV infection in low risk patients and a positive EIA is sufficient to confirm the diagnosis if there are elevated serum ALT levels. HCV RNA should be measured if the ALT levels are not elevated⁴.

ASSESSMENT OF LIVER FIBROSIS

The liver damage from HCV infection can be variable. Therefore, assessing the degree of hepatic injury is essential. The assessment is typically done by a percutaneous liver biopsy, but noninvasive methods are also available. Thereafter, the hepatic injury can be quantified with several scoring systems.

The first available system was the Histology Activity Index (HAI) or Knodell Score. This grading system combines inflammation and fibrosis, which makes it more insensitive to alterations in fibrosis. It includes periportal inflammation and bridging necrosis, intralobular degeneration and focal necrosis, portal inflammation, and fibrosis. It has a maximum score of 22, with higher scores indicating more advanced disease⁴⁵.

The Scheuer system is a simpler scoring that separates inflammation from fibrosis and it has a maximum score of 12^{46} .

The Ishak system is a modified Knodell's score which stages fibrosis in 6 levels⁴⁷. This enables identification of smaller changes in fibrosis and has made this scoring system more popular, especially in clinical trials. Other available scoring systems include the METAVIR score, the Batts-Ludwing (modified Scheuer) system and the Laennec staging system⁴⁸.

Examination of the liver biopsy although important for establishing inflammation and fibrosis, it has its limitations. Those include the associated morbidity and mortality (0.03%), the cost, poor patient tolerance, variability in interpretation as well as sample error^{49,50}. Due to these limitations, several noninvasive tests have been developed for the assessment of liver fibrosis. The FibroTest composes a score derived from a₂-macroglobulin, haptoglobin, apolopoprotein A-1, GGTP, and total bilirubin, and it is adjusted for gender and age⁵¹. Another test is the AST/platelet ratio index (APRI) and is mainly used to exclude or diagnose cirrhosis⁵². Newer techniques such as transient elastography (Fibroscan), acoustic radiation force impulse imaging and magnetic resonance elastography are now available to assess the liver elasticity, which relates with the extent of liver fibrosis^{53,54}.

The accuracy of predicting fibrosis and cirrhosis, and thus avoiding liver biopsy, can increase with the combination of those techniques with serum markers^{55,56}. Moreover, liver biopsy is not deemed essential when there are clinical finding or imaging suggesting cirrhosis⁴.

NATURAL HISTORY

In chronic hepatitis C infection there can rarely be spontaneous clearance. HCV can lead to liver damage, subsequently resulting in cirrhosis and hepatocellular cancer. Cirrhosis rates can be variable with a calculated average rate of 16% within 20 years from infection onset⁵⁷. This percentage was shown to differ within regions and from the presence of co-factors^{58,59}. Age over forty is very important risk factor, as well as longer duration of infection, alcohol consumption, HBV/HIV coinfection⁴. On the contrary, there seems to be a milder course if the infection if acquired during childhood⁶⁰. In general, regardless of the age of infection, cirrhosis develops in most of the patients by about 65 years of age⁶¹. Moreover, there possibly seems to be a hormonal protective effect in females as progression to fibrosis was seen to be faster in men⁶⁰. HLA class I and II antigens variants as well as genes polymorphisms have been suggested to have an involvement in fibrosis progression^{60–62}.

Aminotransferase serum levels are widely used for ongoing monitoring of intrahepatic inflammation. In chronic hepatitis C elevated ALT levels seem to be linked with increased risk of progression to liver fibrosis^{61–63}.

HCV genotype seems to also play a role in disease progression. Genotype 3 has shown faster disease progression consistent accounting for higher mortality rates^{64,65}. Patients infected with HCV genotype 2 seem to experience more frequent flares⁶⁶.

Histological feature of chronic hepatitis C is hepatic steatosis, which is further linked to the stage of liver fibrosis⁶⁴.

As already known, chronic alcohol consumption in excess is a major cause of liver cirrhosis. On the contrary, consumption of coffee has been reported to be beneficial on the overall course and mortality from HCV^{67} .

Chronic hepatitis C accounts for about 25% of reported Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) cases worldwide. The prevalence is particularly high in East Asia⁶⁸. In non-cirrhotic patients with advanced liver fibrosis there is a reported 0.8% annual incidence rate, which reaches 1.4-4.9% in patients with cirrhosis^{69–71}. The 5-year HCC risk can be as high as 7-30% in HCV related cirrhosis^{72,73}. HBV co-infection further increases this risk⁴.

TREATMENT

The first approved monotherapy treatment for chronic hepatitis C was IFN-a. Significant advances introduced pegylated longer-acting formulations of interferon as well as the oral analog ribavirin. Telaprevir and boceprevir were the first direct acting antiviral agents (DAAs) approved for treatment of genotype 1 HCV infection in 2011 followed by simeprevir in 2013, which is another protease inhibitor. Revelation of the replication mechanism of HCV has led to further classes of DAAs, such as NS5A inhibitors and nucleoside and non-nucleoside HCV polymerase inhibitors⁷⁴. Ongoing research has been increasingly individualizing treatment based on the HCV genotype, stage of liver disease and availability of DAAs⁴.

On HCV treatment, eradication of the virus is the primary aim and therefore preventing the development of decompensated cirrhosis, HCC and the associated deaths. An excellent marker for the resolution of the hepatitis C infection is the absence of detectable virus in the blood 12-24 weeks after treatment completion, with late relapsing being rare. In particular, long-term follow-up studies have shown that in more than 98% of the cases of patients with negative HCV RNA in serum 24 weeks after treatment completion there was sustained response^{12,13}. That was also associated with reduction of hepatic inflammation, regression of fibrosis and subsequent improvement of the quality of life of the successfully

treated patients^{75,76}. Antiviral treatment also had reduction of chronic HCV related deaths as well as hepatic decompensation, even in patients with advanced liver fibrosis⁷⁷. In contrary, in patients who did not achieve viral clearance with standard or pegylated IFN treatment, maintenance treatment for 3-4 years with low-dose IFN-a did not show prevention of disease progression⁷⁸.

Virological response

During treatment there are more markers of virological response monitored in order to help with treatment guidance. Undetectable HCV RNA in serum after 4 weeks of treatment is defined as rapid virological response (RVR) and is used to identify the most sensitive to treatment patients. RVR was noted in 80-90% HCV genotype 1-infected patients who complete 48 weeks of treatment or HCV genotype 2 or 3 infected patients who complete 24 weeks of antiviral therapy¹⁸. Moreover, more than 98% of cases have shown failure of treatment in the absence of an early virological response (EVR), which is defined as viral drop of more than 2-log at 12 weeks of therapy. Undetectable HCV RNA at the end of treatment or end-of treatment response (ETR) is used as marker for treatment with ribavirin and pegylated interferon⁴.

MEDICATION

Interferons

IFNs are naturally occurring glycoproteins with antiviral, antiproliferative and immunomodulatory effects and have been the cornerstone of HCV antiviral therapy since the 1980s. Pegylated IFNs are IFNs bound to polyethylene glycol (PEG), which enlarges the size of the molecule and increases the IFN half-life allowing once-weekly dosing⁴. Moreover, pegylated IFNs have significantly increases SVR⁷⁹.

<u>Ribavirin</u>

Ribavirin, an oral guanosine analog, which acts against DNA and RNA viruses is used in combination with IFN and improves the ETR and relapse rate. It is generally well tolerated, though there is dose dependent hemolytic anemia. It is also teratogenic and patients and

their partners should avoid pregnancy for six months after treatment cessation. Ribavirin is excreted by the kidneys, hence needs to be adjusted for the renal function and used with extreme caution, as it is not removed by hemodialysis⁴.

Direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs)

DAAs inhibit HCV replication mainly by targeting HCV protease, HCV NS5A protein and HCV polymerase. HCV protease inhibitors have high antiviral potency and different levels of resistance. Response rates are shown to be better in HCV genotype 1b rather than in 1a infections⁸⁰. These regimes were developed to be used without interferons⁸¹.

NS5A inhibitors have very high antiviral potency at very small doses. There are limited data in non-genotype 1 HCV patients and the first agent approved by FDA in 2014 was ledipasvir.

Most HCV polymerase inhibitors act mainly against HCV genotype 1b and, to a lesser extent, against genotype 1a. Those are mainly used in combinations with other DAAs.

Acute HCV treatment

Early acute HCV infection treatment is effective in contrast with post-exposure prophylaxis. Many cohort studies have shown more than 85% response rates in early treatment of acute hepatitis C with IFN alone, though as a significant number of patients may clear the infection spontaneously, delayed treatment can be considered^{82,83}. IL28B genotype can be used as an indicator of spontaneous recovery, though not solely as the positive predictive value is below 90%^{84,85}. Delayed therapy is effective and can definitely considered in patients with IL28B CC genotype⁸⁶, but in early treatment fewer patients are lost in follow up⁴. In the context of co-infection with HIV, acute hepatitis C treatment can be similar, though most experts prefer immediate therapy⁸⁷. The role of DAAs is yet to be defined.

Chronic HCV treatment

Interferon dose is the same for all hepatitis C genotypes. Ribavirin dose is based on patient's weight and there are different recommendations depending on the genotype. In HCV genotype 1 and 4 treatment with pegylated IFN-a and ribavirin treatment is administered for 48 weeks where in genotypes 2 or 3 is administered for 24 weeks. In some patients with

genotype 2 or 3 sometimes 12 to 16 weeks of treatment might be enough to achieve SVR. Similarly, in genotype 1 HCV infection with low baseline viral load 24 weeks might be enough^{4,18}.

Response to treatment can be very well predicted by the rate of the initial fall in HCV RNA levels. Other pretreatment predicting factors for good response include low baseline HCV RNA levels, non-genotype 1 infection, absence of fibrosis or cirrhosis and obesity, lack of insulin resistance or hepatic steatosis, absence of HIV infection and white race. The most powerful predicting factor though is the HCV genotype⁴.

Protease inhibitors have the advantages of better tolerability and can be used in IFN-free or IFN-sparing regimes.

It is possible to cure HCV infection. In vitro and in small animal models this has been achieved with combination of DAAs that target different steps in hepatitis C virus life cycle^{87,88}. More IFN-free regimes are being explored and it is likely that genotype 1 will be the most easy to cure. Genotype 2 will be also cured with newer therapies, though genotype 3 will possibly remain a challenge.

Increasingly more patients have become candidates for treatment. Physicians who are not comfortable administering and monitoring the treatment therapy should be referring to experienced gastroenterologists and hepatologists³⁵. Treatment is best to be initiated before liver cirrhosis develops, as there are better response rates and can offer reduction to later complications of cirrhosis.

There are few absolute contraindications to treatment that remain. These include adequate contraception during and up to 6 months after treatment for the use of ribavirin as it is teratogenic, psychiatric conditions that are severe or uncontrolled and severe pulmonary or cardiac disease; there is no survival benefit in patients with severe comorbidities. Baseline investigations prior initiation of treatment includes liver function tests, full blood

count and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels. Women in childbearing age require a negative pregnancy test before initiation of treatment with ribavirin. Moreover, HCV RNA levels and genotype will determine the duration of therapy and the dose of ribavirin⁴.

The majority of the haematologic side effects, and in particular haemolytic anaemia, will occur within the first month after initiation of treatment including IFN and ribavirin and, thus, full blood counts need to be performed on a weekly basis. After the first month, monthly full blood counts and serum ALT levels should be checked and three-monthly TSH levels. Serum HCV RNA levels are essential to determine the duration of treatment and should be performed at baseline, 4 weeks, 12 weeks and if still detectable at 24 weeks. On achievement of SVR, annual testing is recommended for up to two years. For relapsers or nonresponders the recommendations suggests annual laboratory testing and check-ups, as well as repeat liver biopsy every four to five years⁴.

Most frequent reasons for dose reduction are anaemia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia. When IFN is used more than 90% of the patients experience flu-like symptoms and 10% to 30% alopecia. Most common side effects with ribavirin are anaemia, pharyngitis, cough, dyspnea, insomnia, rash, pruritus and nausea. Protease inhibitors can interact with many drugs as they inhibit cytochrome P450. At large, the newer oral regimens have milder and well-tolerated side effects⁴.

Table 3

Regimen	Patient Population	Duration (Weeks)	Caveats and Other Considerations
Genotype 1	· · ·		
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis regardless of subtype	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	HIV/HCV coinfection when antiretroviral regimen cannot be made to accommodate recommended regimens	12	
Elbasvir/grazoprevir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	For GT1a, check RASs to NS5A; use a different rec- ommended regimen if high-fold variants detected
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4/5)	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced with cirrhosis, and non-NS5A failures (including NS3) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	Treatment duration depends on presence of cirrhosis
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Treatment naive regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Treatment naive, no cirrhosis, non-black, HIV negative, and HCV RNA <10 ⁶ IU/mL	8	
	PEG/RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced without cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, prior sofosbuvir failure only	24	Add RBV
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV ± NS3 protease inhibitor experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	Same for GT1a and GT1b
	GT1b, non-NS5A DAA experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure lincluding NS5Al ^b	24	Add RBV
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/ voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitor) regard- less of cirrhosis	12	Same for GT1a and GT1b
	GT1a, non-NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhib- itors) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Genotype 2			
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis ^b	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation ^b	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced with cir- rhosis, and sofosbuvir failures regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	Treatment duration depends on presence of cirrhosis
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		

Table 3 continued

Regimen	Patient Population	Duration (Weeks)	Caveats and Other Considerations
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive, or PEG/RBV or non-NS5A experi- enced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV or non-NS5A experienced	12	Add weight-based RBV
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including sofos- buvir ± NS5A) ^b	24	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Post liver transplant with decompensated cirrhosis	12	Add weight-based RBV
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/ voxilaprevir	NS5A failures	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Genotype 3			
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis	12	Add dose-escalating RBV"
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	Add dose-escalating RBV
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive with compensated cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	Treatment duration depends on presence of cirrhosis
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Sofosbuvir + elbasvir/grazoprevir	PEG/RBV experienced with compensated cirrhosis ^b	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive without cirrhosis	12	
	Treatment naive with cirrhosis or PEG/RBV experi- enced without cirrhosis	12	Check for Y93H RAS; if present, use a different rec- ommended regimen when available or 12 weeks of sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir (an alternative regimen) ^b
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV experienced	12	Add weight-based RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, previously exposed to DAA (including sofosbuvir ± NS5A) ^b	24	Add weight-based RBV
	Post liver transplant with decompensated cirrhosis	12	Add weight-based RBV
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/ voxilaprevir	PEG/RBV experienced with cirrhosis, or DAA failure (including NS5A inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12	Add RBV for prior NS5A inhibitor failure and cirrhosis ^b
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Genotype 4			
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis ^b	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	HIV/HCV coinfection when antiretroviral regimen cannot be made to accommodate recommended regimens	12	
Elbasvir/grazoprevir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced with prior relapse, regardless of cirrhosis	12	Not recommended for other treatment failures
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4/5)	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced with cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	Treatment duration depends on presence of cirrhosis
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		

Table 3 continued

Regimen	Patient Population	Duration (Weeks)	Caveats and Other Considerations
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Treatment naive regardless of cirrhosis or PEG/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV experienced	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, sofosbuvir failure ^b	24	Add weight-based RBV
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	Add weight-based RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including NS5A) ^b	24	Add weight-based RBV
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/ voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Genotype 5 or 6			
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced with cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	Treatment duration depends on presence of cirrhosis
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV experienced	12	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, sofosbuvir failure ^b	24	Add dose-escalating RBV*
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	Add weight-based RBV ^e ; use dose-escalating RBV if decompensated
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or PEG/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or PEG/ RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	Add weight-based RBV*
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure lincluding NS6A) ^b	24	Add weight-based RBV
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/ voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver trans- plant with cirrhosis		

Cirrhosis refers to compensated cirrhosis unless otherwise specified.

Abbreviations: CKD, dhronic kidney disease; DAA, direct-acting antivital agent; GT, genotype; HCV, hepatitis C virus; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; NS5A, nonstructural protein 5A; PEG, peginterferon; RAS, resistance-associated substitution; RBV, ribavirin.

*Extend treatment duration to 24 weeks if RBV ineligible.

^bRepresents off-label use.

Table 3: Summary of treatment recommendations for initial and re-treatment of HCV genotype 1-6 infection⁸⁹.

CHAPTER A5: Liver Fibrosis and Cirrhosis

Hepatic cirrhosis is defined as replacement of normal liver architecture by fibrous tissue in the form of abnormal nodules. It is the end result of chronic liver diseases and most commonly results from chronic hepatitis C and B^{90} .

Pathogenesis

Hepatic stellate cells are the cells mostly implicated in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis. Once activated, these transform into myofibroblasts⁹¹. (Figure 15) The activation pathways that are mostly involved in this activation are pathways mediated through transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and integrin signaling pathways.

Other cell types that are important in the fibrosis process include epithelial cells, the injury of which culminates in the recruitment and activation of the hepatic stellate cells⁹². Macrophages are also deemed to play an important role in fibrosis as well as angiogenesis⁴.



Figure 15: Fibrogenesis schematic overview⁴.

Diagnosis

Strictly speaking, cirrhosis is a histological diagnosis, though the diagnosis can be a result of a combination of clinical, imaging and laboratory findings.

Physical findings that are suggestive of cirrhosis include palmar erythema, terry's nails, clubbing of the fingernails, gynecomastia, spider telangiectasias, dilated abdominal veins (caput medusa) and hepatosplenomegaly. Those are mainly resulting from the alteration in the metabolism of estrogens by the cirrhotic liver and portal hypertension. In patients with

ascites, eosophageal varices or hepatic encephalopathy on a background of chronic liver disease, liver biopsy is not essential as they are likely to have cirrhosis. Laboratory findings that can suggest cirrhosis include deranged liver function tests, hypoalbuminemia and prolongation of prothrombin time. Scoring systems commonly used to outline fibrosis are a serum AST/platelet radio index (APRI), which, if greater than 2 is suggestive of cirrhosis, as does a Bonacini cirrhosis discriminant score (CDS: platelet score + ALT/AST ratio score + INR score) of greater than 7.

Imaging studies such as transient elastography, acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) and magnetic resonance elastography (MRE) can aid the diagnosis of cirrhosis if physical and laboratory findings are not suggestive. On transient elastography, liver stiffness is measured in kilopascals and values greater than 14kPa are suggestive of cirrhosis, and greater than 21kPa are associated with portal hypertension⁹². In ARFI imaging, which is more easily performed in comparison with transient elastography, values greater than 2.6 m/sec also suggest cirrhosis⁹³. Values greater than 5.9kPa on MRE are suggestive of hepatic cirrhosis and a biopsy is not usually required for confirmation⁴.

Natural History

Cirrhosis is largely classified as compensated or decompensated. The latter is characterized by the presence of complications such as ascites, variceal hemorrhage, jaundice, encephalopathy or hepatocellular carcinoma.

Clinically, 4 stages of cirrhosis have been described. In stage 1 there is absence of ascites and varices; in stage 2 there is presence of non-bleeding varices; in stage 3 there is ascites with or without the presence of oesophageal varices; and in stage 4 there is variceal bleeding with or without the presence of ascites⁴.

In liver cirrhosis most deaths occur due to decompensation. However, in compensated cirrhosis cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death⁹⁴.

Prognosis

Cirrhosis has an increased risk of death in comparison with the general population, which can be up to 5-fold for compensated cirrhosis and 10-fold for decompensated cirrhosis. In regards to the median survival, that is nine to twelve years in patients with compensated cirrhosis and two in those with decompensated cirrhosis⁴.

The prognosis, though, does also depend from the existence of comorbidities. Mortality risk can be calculated with generic scores such as the CHILD-Turcotte-Pugh score and the MELD score. Von Willebrand factor levels have also been associated with higher risk of decompensation and thus mortality⁹⁵.

Compensated cirrhosis can progress to decompensated with a 10-year probability of 58%⁴. The annual rate, though, varies depending on the etiology, with a 4% rate for HCV-related cirrhosis and 10% in HBV-related cirrhosis⁹⁶.

<u>Management</u>

Surveillance for HCC with 6 monthly ultrasound of the liver is part of the management of compensated cirrhosis, as well as gastrointestinal endoscopy for esophageal varicies and lifestyle changes, with a questioned cost-effectiveness though⁹⁷. The management also includes immunization against HAV, HBV, influenza and pneumococcal pneumonia⁴, as well as the use of molecular weight heparin which has been reported to delay decompensation regardless if there is or not portal vein thrombosis⁹⁸.

Cirrhotic patients have protein-calorie malnutrition and is essential that to be addressed and is recommended to monitor fat-soluble vitamins and zinc levels. Other problems associated with cirrhosis include fatigue, muscle cramps and sexual dysfunction. Depression occurs in up to 40% of the patients and is associated with diabetes mellitus, obesity and sleep disorders, all of which should be addressed and managed as required⁴.

Reversal of fibrosis

Clinical observation and experimental studies in animal models have shown evidence that fibrosis is reversible. Genetic disruption of fibrogenic signaling pathways in animal models has been shown to reverse or prevent liver fibrosis⁹⁹. In humans, though, there are a number of limitations that have precluded successful antifibrotic therapy, including the lack of effective tools to assess fibrosis noninvasively¹⁰⁰. Moreover, trial design is further complicated by the fact that fibrosis is multifactorial and the resolution might take years to be achieved. Finally, advanced stages of fibrosis might not be amendable to reverse due to fixed angioarchitectural changes⁴.

CHAPTER A6: Evaluation of Liver fibrosis

The gold standard for diagnosing cirrhosis has long been liver biopsy. This may, though, be associated with costs and, infrequently, with risks. Moreover, things that must be taken into consideration include sampling error and inter-observer disagreement in the estimation of fibrosis extent⁴.

6.1. Histological grading and staging of fibrosis

The extend of fibrosis in the liver is one of the most significant and valuable markers for the diagnosis and prognosis of chronic liver disease. It is for that matter considered as a "gold standard"¹⁰¹. Evidence has shown that treatment could alter the fibrosis in the liver^{101,102}. That makes re-assessment of the degree of fibrosis even more crucial.

Several histological features should be evaluated for the staging of fibrosis. Those include assessment of the extent of the extracellular matrix deposit, the localization of the deposits within the liver lobule and changes in lobular architecture, which are then integrated into a semiquantitative scoring system¹⁰³. (Figure 16)



Figure 16: Histologic stages of hepatic fibrosis. A: Stage 0 fibrosis - H&E. Normal portal tract containing a portal vein branch, hepatic artery branch and intralobular bile duct. The parenchyma shows mild steatosis. B: Stage 0 - Masson's trichrome stain. Minimal (normal) amount of collagen in portal tract highlighted in blue.



Figure 16 cont'd: C: Stage 1 - H&E. Significant increase of collagen in portal tract. D: Stage 1 - Masson's trichrome stain. Fibrosis expands the portal tract but does not involve the surrounding parenchyma. E: Stage 2 - Masson's trichrome stain. Expansion of the portal tract by fibrosis, which also extends to the surrounding periportal parenchyma (arrows). F: Stage 3- Masson's trichrome stain. Bridging fibrosis is seen (arrows). G: Stage 4 (cirrhosis) - Masson's trichrome stain. Completely distorted normal liver architecture and replaced by regenerative nodules separated by fibrous septa in blue⁴.

There are many systems that evaluate the grade (categories of inflammation) and the stage (architectural disruption and fibrosis), such as the Knodell Histology Activity Index (HAI)⁴⁴, b) the Ishak HAI⁴⁶, c) the Metavir scoring system⁴⁷, and d) the Scheuer HAI⁴⁵, but their final score share analogous features¹⁰¹.

Knodell's score or "histological activity index" system (HAI) dates back in 1981. It consists of four histological features: periportal and bridging necrosis, intralobular degeneration - focal necrosis, portal inflammation and fibrosis. (**Table 4**) In this score, Knodell and colleagues excluded from their system on each of the scoring features the number "2" with the purpose of amplifying the difference between mild and severe disease^{44,101}.

I. Periportal ± bridging necrosis	Score	II. Intralobular degeneration and focal necrosis ^b	Score	III. Portal inflammation	Score	IV. Fibrosis	Score
A. None	0	A. None	0	A. No portal inflammation	0	A. No fibrosis	0
B. Mild piecemeal necrosis	1	B. Mild (acidophilic bodies, ballooning degeneration and/ or scattered foci of hepatocellular necrosis in <1/3 of lobules or nodules)	1	B. Mild (sprinkling of inflammatory cells in <1/3 of portal tracts)	1	B. Fibrous portal expansion	1
C. Moderate piecemeal necrosis (involves less than 50% of the circumference of most portal tracts)	3	C. Moderate (involvement of 1/3–2/3 of lobules or nodules)	3	C. Moderate (increased inflammatory cells in 1/3-2/3 of portal tracts)	3	C. Bridging fibrosis (portal- portal or portal-central linkage)	3
D. Marked piecemeal necrosis (involves more than 50% of the circumference of most portal tracts)	4	D. Marked (involvement of >2/3 of lobules or nodules)	4	D. Marked (dense packing of inflammatory cells in >2/3 of portal tracts)	4	D. Cirrhosis ^c	4
E. Moderate piecemeal necrosis plus bridging necrosis ^d	5						
F. Marked piecemeal necrosis plus bridging necrosis ^d							
G. Multilobular necrosis ^e	10						

^a HAI score is the combined scores for necrosis, inflammation, and fibrosis.

^b Degeneration: acidophilic bodies, ballooning; focal necrosis: scattered foci of hepatocellular necrosis.

Loss of normal hepatic lobular architecture with fibrous septae separating and surrounding nodules.

^d Bridging is defined as ≥2 bridges in the liver biopsy specimen; no distinction is made between portal-portal and portal-central linkage

* Two or more contiguous lobules with panlobular necrosis.

Table 4: HAI for numerical scoring of liver biopsy specimens¹⁰⁴.

Currently, the most commonly used system is the Ishak (or "revised Knodell") system. This system reintroduces the number "2" in order to alter the previous criticism of the numerical discontinuity^{46,101}. This system descriptive strength is potentially more discriminant as it evaluates fibrosis in seven categories⁴⁶. (**Table 5**)

Score A. Periportal or periseptal interface hepatitis (piecemeal necrosis) 0 Absent Mild (focal, few portal areas) 1 Mild/moderate (focal, most portal areas) 2 Moderate (continuous around <50% of tracts or septa) 3 4 Severe (continuous around >50% of tracts or septa) B. Confluent necrosis 0 Absent Focal confluent necrosis 1 2 Zone 3 necrosis in some areas 3 Zone 3 necrosis in most areas Zone 3 necrosis+occasional portal-central (P-C) bridging 4 Zone 3 necrosis+multiple P-C bridging 5 Panacinar or multiacinar necrosis 6 C. Focal (spotty) lytic necrosis, apoptosis and focal inflammation* Absent 0 One focus or less per 10×objective 1 2 Two to four foci per 10×objective Five to ten foci per 10×objective 3 More than ten foci per 10×objective 4 D. Portal inflammation 0 None Mild, some or all portal areas 1 2 Moderate, some or ail portal areas 3 Moderate/marked, all portal areas Marked, all portal areas 4

*Does not include diffuse sinusoidal infiltration by inflammatory cells.

Maximum possible score for grading

18

Additional features which should be noted but not scored: Bile-duct inflammation and damage Lymphoid follicles Steatosis, mild, moderate or marked Hepatocellular dysplasia, large- or small-cell Adenomatous hyperplasia Iron or copper overload Intracellular inclusions (e.g. PAS-positive globules, Mallory bodies)

Table 5: Modified HAI grading: necroinflammatory scores⁴⁶.

METAVIR scoring system was specifically designed for the evaluation of HCV related chronic hepatitis. The score assesses piecemeal and lobular necrosis, excluding portal inflammation from the algorithm, as this is a criterion on the definition of chronic hepatitis^{47,101}.

(Figure 17)

Scheuer system is similar to the METAVIR staging system. (Figure 18)



Figure 17: Visual depictions of fibrosis staging (METAVIR system) in chronic hepatitis C. Diagnosis of cirrhosis requires the presence of nodules formation⁴.



Figure 18: Comparison of the Knodell, METAVIR and Ishak staging systems. The METAVIR system is similar to the Scheuer⁴.

Although scoring systems haven been designed and stated to be "numerical, objective and reproducible",⁴⁴, observer variability has been well-documented^{105–107}. The level of experience of a histopathologist, including the specialization, duration and location of the practice, seemed to have more influence than the specimen characteristics¹⁰⁸. Organizing consensus meetings after the independent blinded assessment of at least two histopathologists, is a way to attempt and reduce this variability¹⁰⁹.

The size of the biopsy is another important factor that can influence the interpretation, as smaller size is more likely to lower the grade and stage¹¹⁰. Reliable is considered a biopsy with a length of 20mm or more, with at least 11 entire portal tracts¹¹⁰, in order to minimize "underestimation" and "sampling error"^{112,113}.

In regards to staining, pathologists normally perform several different stainings to assess fibrosis. Those include Masson trichrome, Sirius red, Victoria blue and orcein staining. Masson trichrome and Sirius red are reported to be more specific for collagen staining^{111,112}. Sirus red is the preferred one for better quantification of liver fibrosis with techniques like computer assisted digital image analysis (DIA)¹¹⁵.

6.2. Automatic quantification of liver fibrosis

Liver fibrosis can be morphologically measured in histologically stained sections with computer assisted image analysis (IA). With the use of digital images in multiple segmentations, the areas of collagen and tissue are measured in order to produce the collagen proportionate area (CPA), which gives a ratio of fibrosis¹⁰¹.

Staining plays an important role in enabling histological quantification of hepatic collagen. As already mentioned, Sirius red was recommended because of the good affinity for the majority of the liver collagens including hepatic collagens I and III, which are the most common, as well as the suitability for polarization microscopy^{101,116}.

Normal human liver collagen has been estimated to about 5.5 mg/g and cirrhotic about 30mg/g^{117} . Image analysis studies have looked at fibrosis in several conditions giving similar results for fibrous tissue varying between 1-4% in normal liver and 15-35% in cirrhotic liver^{118–121}.

Correlation with categorical scores has also been looked at, and variable correlations have been reported^{118,120,122}. This was deemed to be due to the fact that categorical scores depend more on architectural changes rather than the amount of fibrous tissue¹⁰¹. Despite that, IA measurements have been shown by O'Brien *et al* to correlate well with Ishak's staging score¹²³.

In bibliography, the methodologies that have been proposed so far have all been semiautomated. All include three stages: image segmentation for tissue background separation, identification of collagen within the liver tissue and removal of all the other tissues, though one cannot find too many details in regards to image analysis techniques^{120,122}. Moreover, the cost of these techniques in combination with the lack of specialized tools for digital image analysis, have been the main reasons why these are not yet being used in clinical practice. Nevertheless, more sophisticated techniques are being developed with time, which should bring these advances in daily medical management.
CHAPTER A7: AIM OF THE STUDY

Chronic liver disease is histologically most commonly associated with fibrosis¹³¹. Determining early and accurately the degree of fibrosis is crucial for diagnosing as well as evaluating the therapeutic efficacy¹²⁴. Patients with chronic hepatitis B and C with deranged liver function tests frequently undergo liver biopsy in order for the amount of fibrosis to be determined. Image analysis (IA) for collagen proportionate area (CPA) assessment of hepatic biopsies got increased attention over the last decade. For appropriate quantification of the collagen, needle biopsy specimens are segmented and stained with special dyes. Ideally, only hepatic tissue should be examined, though, unfortunately, biopsy samples contain other tissues as well, such us structural collagen, capsule collagen, muscles, blood vessels, fat, as well as artifacts, making the use of sophisticated IA techniques extremely valuable.

Aims of our study were to quantitatively assess the amount of liver fibrosis in liver biopsies from patients with hepatitis C before commencing on any treatment and to determine the correlation with Ishak's staging score in view of developing a software that could automatically calculate the stage of fibrosis (Fibrosis Detector). With the use of digital image analysis of histological images and machine learning, the goal was to create a marker of collagen ratio, the Collagen Proportionate Area or CPA.

B. METHODS AND RESULTS

CHAPTER B1: Patient Cohort

The dataset used to evaluate the proposed methodology included 79 images of liver biopsies of patients with HCV from Royal Free Hospital in London. The biopsies were processed with formalin fixation, paraffin embedment and staining with Picrosirius red dye. A Canon Powershot A640 digital camera was used for the photography of the samples. This was connected to a close-up copystand with black-lighting. Every single sample was fitted in a solitary low-resolution image, which was then extracted in a JPEG format. (Figure 19) Low resolution allows for quick and robust processing of the images. The images sizing was varying between 337x1001x3 and 1439x1909x3 pixels. RGB color model was used with 24 BitBepth and File size ranging from 104 to 969 KB.



Figure 19: Methodology illustration

The biopsies used were from two different needle sizes. In almost all images (94.94%) one or more large tissue specimens were obtained. This was deemed as sufficient by histopathologists. In the rest 5.06% of images, segmented parts of tissues were presented. The existence of other tissue types, such as structural collagen, muscle and blood, within the samples made the CPA measurement more perplexing and challenging.

We interpreted all the images. Image regions were divided in seven categories: liver tissue, structural collagen, muscular tissue, blood clots, dye stains, artifacts and non-evaluable liver tissue (small fragments). (Figure 20) The feature vectors of each region were binary

annotated as liver and non-liver tissue. The binary annotation was based on whether the detected regions were associated or not with an image region. If one or more detected regions were correlating with one image region, then the appropriate labeling followed this and if a detected region was not correlating with any image region, then this was excluded from the study. It would be important to mention though that no liver tissue image falls in our study under the second category. With the use of K-mean (KM) algorithm in the first stage 513 number of patterns were identified, 390 liver and 123 non-liver tissue, whereas there were 515 with the Fuzzy C-means (FCM) algorithm, 392 liver and 123 non-liver tissue. The above difference was attributed to a small variation in pixel segmentation in stage one, which resulted to some regions to be considered connected or not after the use of the clustering algorithm. Lastly, CPA was assessed for each image again.



Figure 20: Image regions categories illustration

CHAPTER B2: Study Protocol

We proposed and performed a three-stage methodology for this study. In stage one, background pixels were separated as zero background from pixels belonging to all the other image regions. In stage two, shape and color features were extracted from each region. These features where then used for classification and identification of each region and where stratified as liver or non-liver tissue. The non-liver tissue regions were then rejected and the liver tissue regions undergone further processing with CPA computation, which was the third stage. At this final stage, clustering algorithms were used to further divide pixels into two groups; the fibrosis pixels and the normal liver tissue pixels. (Figure 21)



Figure 21: Methodology flowchart¹²⁴.

Elaborating further on the methodology; in stage one, the background/tissue separation was performed with the use of a clustering method. With an intention to reduce size and time complexity, each image was divided in 9x9 windows, starting from the top left pixel

of the image. A feature vector with three components was then calculated for each window based on the mean value of each window from RGB channels (intensity based features). Two centroids were then calculated on all feature vectors with the use of a clustering algorithm. The number of clusters was set equal to two, with number one corresponding to background and number two to tissue regions.

KM and FCM clustering algorithms were both tested for stage one. A square-error criterion calculated for each cluster was utilized on the KM algorithm. Every single vector of the image, which is corresponding to a 9x9 window, was assigned to the nearest centroid. Both centroids were then recalculated repeatedly until the distance between the centroids of two subsequent iterations is minimized. Equally, FCM algorithm depends on the minimization of an objective function, though a membership value defines that each feature vector belongs partly in both centroids. After repeated calculations and generation of centroids, a segmented image was produced according to the Euclidean distance, with the assignment of all pixels to the nearest centroid. At the end of the clustering stage there was production of images with tissue regions in zero background. Afterwards, all eight connected regions were identified and labeled, eliminating regions with less than 500 pixels. (Figure 22)



Figure 22: Background/tissue separation stage. a: Liver biopsy image. b: Zero background image. c: Labeled image.¹²⁴

Labeled images included the non-background regions, however, those might have contained numerous artifacts. Therefore, a region classification procedure was performed in order to exclude the artifacts from the CPA assessment. Since the main idea was to separate liver tissue from all the other regions, the image regions were classified as either liver or nonliver tissue. For this classification, a set of features was extracted from each image, including shape and color properties. Shape based features included the following: a. number of pixels in the region (area), b. eccentricity of the ellipse that has the same secondmoments as the region (eccentricity), c. diameter of a circle with the same area as the region (diameter), d. number of objects in the region minus the number of holes in the objects (euler number), e. ratio of pixels in the region to pixels in the total bounding box (extent), f. the length (pixels) of the major and minor axis of the ellipse that has the same normalized second central moments as the region (major & minor axis length), g. distance around the boundary of the region (perimeter) and h. proportion of the pixels in the convex hull that are also in the region (solidity). (Table 6) The color properties used were the minimum, maximum and average pixel intensity for each RGB channel within the image. Therefore, the calculated feature vector had 18 feature values; 9 shape-based and 9 color-based. Boxplots of the features for liver and non-liver tissue were then created. (Figure 23) Thereafter, each feature vector was marked as either liver tissue or undesired region, as per experts' input. This dataset was then used to evaluate and train a classification algorithm. For this second stage, six well-known algorithms were tested in view of identifying the most appropriate: 1) Naïve Bayes classifier (NB). 2) K Nearest Neighbor algorithm (KNN), with K=10 nearest neighbors and the normalized Euclidean distance as distance function. 3) Decision trees (DT), based on the C4.5 algorithm. The pessimistic error rate method with sub-tree replacement was employed for pruning, with at least 2 instances per leaf and 0.25 confidence factor. 4) Random Forests (RF), which was created as an ensample of 10 random trees. 5) Neural Network (NN), which was implemented as a Multilayer Perceptron, with 2 hidden layers, each of them having 10 neurons. 6) Support Vector Machines (SVM), with a polynomial kernel^{125,126}.

The result was the prediction of the type of tissue for each region. The undesired regions were then removed from the label image and the remaining regions classified as liver tissue were used for the third stage of the methodology.

Shape-based features	Description
Area	Number of pixels in the region
Eccentricity	Eccentricity of the ellipse that has the same second-moments as the region
Diameter	Diameter of a circle with the same area as the region
Euler number	Number of objects in the region minus the number of holes in the objects
Extent	Ratio of pixels in the region to pixels in the total bounding box
Major & minor axis length	The length (pixels) of the major & minor axis of the ellipse that has the same normalized second central moments as the region
Perimeter	Distance around the boundary of the region
Solidity	Proportion of the pixels in the convex hull that are also in the region

Table 6: Region shape-based features.¹²⁴



Figure 23: Background/tissue separation stage. a: Liver biopsy image. b: Zero background image. c: Labeled image.¹²⁴

Fibrosis detection was then performed via clustering using either KM or FCM algorithms. The RGB values of each pixel were used, whilst the number of clusters was set, as before, to two; one for normal liver tissue and two for fibrotic tissue. Following the clustering, the segmentation results were merged with the background detection, as produced in the first stage. This resulted in an image, which provided characterization in pixel level, comparably with the experts'-medical annotation. The image had three colors: 1) black for the background pixels, 2) gray for the normal tissue pixels and 3) white for the fibrosis pixels. (Figure 24)

Collagen Proportional Area or CPA was then calculated as the ration between the number of fibrosis pixels (from stage three) and the number of pixels from liver tissue regions (from stage two). The mathematical equation used was the following:

$$CPA = \frac{n_{fibrosis}}{n_{fibrosis} + n_{normal \, liver \, tissue}}, (\%)$$
(1)

where $n_{fibrosis}$ is the number of fibrosis pixels and $n_{normal \ liver \ tissue}$ is the number of normal liver tissue pixels.



Figure 24: Fibrosis detection stage. a: Zero background image. b: Resulting image (gray areas = normal liver tissue, white = fibrosis expansions)¹²⁴

CHAPTER B3: Statistical Analysis and obtained results

The methodology was tested with the use of the KM and FCM clustering algorithms in stage one and three (no combinations were tested) and with the NB, KNN, DT, RF, NN and SVN classification algorithms in stage two. In the second stage, each algorithm was applied to the dataset with the use of ten-fold stratified cross-validation procedure with regards to the number of regions. The obtained result for each region was then used as the final classification result for this stage and was either rejected, if classified as non-liver tissue, or further processed in stage three, if classified as liver tissue.

The end result of the proposed methodology was the calculation of the CPA for each region. (**Table 7**) All CPAs produced by the methodology were then compared with the manually calculated CPAs which have used the Bland-Altman plots. (**Figure 25**)

Next step was the calculation of the absolute CPA error, which is defined as:

$$absolute CPA error = |CPA - CPA_{methodology}| (\%).$$
(2)

Absolute CPA error was calculated for all algorithms (clustering and classification), followed by mean absolute CPA error and absolute CPA error standard deviation. **(Table 8)**

The dataset was further divided in two subsets, based on whether the CPA value of each image was $\leq 10\%$ or > 10%, with the mean value and standard deviation of the absolute CPA error for each subset also calculated. That was based on medical experts reports stating that CPA values $\leq 10\%$ can be more pivotal when deciding for medical treatment, in comparison with values > 10%.

The concordance correlation coefficient $(CCC)^{136}$ was used in order to assess the concordance between the CPAs automatically calculated by using the proposed methodology and the manually calculated CPAs. CCC is a metric system used to assess the agreement between two variables. This ranges between -1 to 1, with "1" corresponding to perfect agreement, "0" to no agreement and "-1" to perfect disagreement. All calculated CCC values were greater than 0.7. **(Table 9)**

				K	М						FC	CM		
#	CPA	NB	KNN	DT	RF	NN	SVM		NB	KNN	DT	RF	NN	SVM
1	10.37	9.63	9.63	8.29	9.07	8.06	9.08	_	9.64	9.64	8.10	7.77	9.09	9.09
2	1.42	1.48	1.47	1.47	1.45	1.53	1.44		1.48	1.47	1.44	1.44	1.52	1.47
4	1.40	2.45	1.74	2.77	2.45	2.48	2.82		2.44	1.75	2.51	2.47	2.47	12.85
5	2.39	43.8	2.02	1.98	38.3	2.41	1.82		44.6	2.07	1.27	1.86	2.14	28.02
6	1.76	1.34	1.41	1.34	1.34	1.34	1.34		1.34	1.41	1.33	1.33	1.33	1.34
7	31.73	30.9	28.61	21.9	28.1	28.6	27.97		31.0	28.69	27.5	28.0	28.6	28.03
9	1.35	2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19		2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19	2.19
10	1.77	1.43	1.43	1.43	1.43	1.43	1.43		1.42	1.42	1.42	1.42	1.42	1.42
11	2.37	2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53		2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53
12	2.27	1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93		1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93	1.93
14	4.26	4.45	4.41	4.41	4.41	4.41	4.41		4.44	4.41	4.43	4.41	4.41	4.41
15	3.08	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03		3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03
16	1.50	1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26		1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26	1.26
17	4.62	5.74	5.49	5.49	5.49	5.49	5.49		5.74	5.50	5.50	5.50	5.50	5.50
19	2.45	2.74	2.96	2.96	2.96	2.96	2.96		2.73	2.86	2.86	2.95	2.86	2.95
20	1.52	2.13	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45		2.12	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45
21	14.86	16.0	16.07	16.0	16.0	16.0	16.09		16.0	16.07	16.0	16.0	16.0	16.07
22	3.80	3.36	5.07	5.07	5.14	5.20	5.07		3.34	5.04	5.04	5.14	5.04	5.04
23	1.65	1.87	1.87	1.87	1.87	1.87	4.14		1.86	1.86	1.86	1.86	1.86	4.14
25	2.86	2.46	2.52	2.66	2.45	2.59	2.42		2.46	2.52	2.59	2.48	2.42	2.52
26	1.42	1.11	1.12	1.12	1.11	1.12	1.12		1.11	1.11	1.11	1.11	1.11	1.11
27	2.97	3.87	3.89	3.8/	3.87	3.86	3.85		3.88	3.89	3.86	3.86	3.86	3.86
29	0.74	0.91	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90		0.91	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90
30	1.79	3.24	3.20	3.20	3.20	3.20	3.20		3.22	3.19	3.19	3.19	3.19	3.19
31	2.64	2.79	2.79	2.79	2.79	2.79	2.79		2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77
32	38.59	1 31	29.65	29.6	29.5	1 32	29.59		30.9	1 30	29.9	1 30	1 30	1 30
34	2.07	2.57	2.57	2.57	2.57	2.57	2.57		2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.45
35	2.60	2.73	2.71	2.71	2.71	2.71	2.71		2.74	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72
36	1.33	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85		1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.85
38	1.51	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05		1.06	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05
39	1.68	1.29	1.36	1.36	1.36	1.36	1.36		1.28	1.35	1.27	1.35	1.35	1.35
40	12.17	10.4	10.42	10.4	10.4	10.4	10.42		10.4	10.43	10.4	10.4	10.4	10.43
41	11.19	12.2	12.46	12.4	12.2	12.2	12.28		12.2	12.45	12.4	12.2	12.2	12.26
42	2.95	10.1	9.94	10.0	9.94	10.1	9.94		10.1	9.89	9.92	9.90	9.89	9.92
44	3.24	3.82	4.17	3.85	4.17	4.17	4.17		3.80	4.20	4.20	4.20	4.20	4.20
45	6.48	7.43	7.28	7.28	7.28	7.28	7.28		7.39	7.31	7.37	7.31	7.31	7.31
46	10.18	8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89		8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89	8.89
48	4.20	3.42	3.38	3.41	3.38	3.38	3.38		3.43	3.38	3.38	3.41	3.38	3.38
49	3.79	4.04	4.04	4.04	4.04	4.04	4.04		4.03	4.03	4.03	4.03	4.03	4.03
50	6.92	2.93	2.91	2.93	3.28	2.91	2.94		2.92	2.89	2.92	2.88	2.92	2.92
51	5.95	3.23	3.23 4.04	3.23	5.25 4.04	3.23 4.04	3.23		3.23	3.23	3.23	3.23	3.23	3.23
53	2.04	2.50	3.34	2.71	3.07	2.70	2.96		2.51	3.27	3.45	3.06	2.79	2.92
54	2.86	2.59	2.59	2.59	2.59	2.59	2.59		2.60	2.60	2.60	2.60	2.60	2.60
55	2.19	1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56		1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56	1.56
57	3.93	1.68	2.89	2.94	2.90	2.79	2.77		1.68	2.89	2.79	2.95	3.08	2.77
58	1.44	1.60	1.59	1.56	1.55	1.65	1.54		1.59	1.60	1.56	1.55	1.67	1.54
59	1.27	1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47		1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47	1.47
60	3.91	2.80	2.79	2.80	2.80	2.80	2.80		2.79	2.78	2.79	2.78	2.79	2.79
62	20.09	21.3	21.26	17.3	21.3	21.3	21.47		21.3	21.24	17.3	22.2	22.2	21.46
63	3.43	2.96	3.09	3.09	3.09	3.09	3.10		2.95	3.09	3.10	3.11	3.10	3.10
64	7.95	5.53	5.53	5.53	5.53	5.53	5.53		5.51	5.51	5.51	5.51	5.51	5.51
66	3.34	2.70	2.88	2.88	2.88	2.88	2.87		2.70	2.86	2.86	2.86	2.65	2.79
67	9.45	6.85	5.90	5.96	5.96	5.96	6.25		6.83	5.89	5.89	5.89	5.95	5.95
68	16.14	16.5	16.53	16.5	16.5	16.5	16.53		16.5	16.52	16.5	16.5	16.5	16.52
69 70	3.71 3.47	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72		2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72	2.72
71	4.77	4.12	4.42	5.20	4.62	4.86	27.19		4.12	4.58	4.64	4.89	4.58	28.12
72	2.47	2.94	2.28	2.94	2.32	2.56	2.27		2.95	2.59	2.65	2.58	2.31	2.29
73	23.72	44.1	42.91	43.4	43.0	40.2	42.94		44.1	43.83	42.8	42.7	40.1	42.97
74 75	6.09	52.4	33.11 4 57	32.9 4 57	55.1 4 57	55.1 4 57	33.11 4 57		52.6 4.62	55.35 4 57	32.8 4.57	55.3 4 57	55.3 4 57	35.35
76	2.18	2.98	2.98	2.98	2.98	2.98	2.98		2.97	2.97	2.97	2.97	2.97	2.97
77	1.63	1.55	1.53	1.54	1.53	1.54	1.53		1.55	1.53	1.54	1.54	1.54	1.53
78 70	3.95	3.53	3.53	3.53	3.53	3.53	3.53		3.54	3.54	3.54	3.54	3.54	3.54
11	1.14	2.20	2.01	4.01	4.01	2.00	4.01		4.40	2.20	2.20	2.20	2.20	2.20

Table 7: Fibrosis percentage manually calculated (CPA) in comparison with all clustering and classification algorithms (KM – NB, KM - KNN, KM – DT, KM – RF, KM – NN, KM – SVN, FCM – NB, FCM- KNN, FCM – DT, FCM – RF, FCM – NN, FCM – SVN)



Figure 25: Bland-Altman plots between CPAs calculated from the proposed methodology vs. manually calculated CPAs.¹²⁴

Clustering	Classification	Total		CPA ≤ 1	0%	CPA > 1	0%
algorithm	algorithm	Mean	Std	Mean	Std	Mean	Std
KM	NB	1,79	5,36	1,35	5,06	4.04	6,49
	KNN	1,31	2,91	0,69	0.74	4,42	6,30
	DT	1,48	3,10	0,72	0,73	5,30	6,37
	RF	1,75	4,88	1,23	4.40	4,38	6,38
	NN	1,29	2,71	0,71	0.74	4,26	6,36
	SVM	1,58	3,76	1.04	2,77	4,36	5,78
FCM	NB	1.80	5.46	1,36	5,16	4.05	6,36
	KNN	1,31	3.00	0,68	0.74	4,50	6,56
	DT	1,37	2,90	0,73	0.74	4,59	6,52
	RF	1,36	2,92	0,70	0.74	4,69	6,17
	NN	1,31	2,72	0,71	0.74	4,30	6,18
	SVM	2,04	4,82	1,58	4,36	4,37	6,55

Table 8: CPA absolute errors (%) for all different clustering/ classification algorithms¹²⁴

Clustering algorithm	Classification algorithm	Concordance correlation coefficient
KM	NB	0,7735
	KNN	0,9152
	DT	0,8991
	RF	0,7973
	NN	0,9229
	SVM	0,8659
FCM	NB	0,7672
	KNN	0,9116
	DT	0,9125
	RF	0,9138
	NN	0,9231
	CUDA .	0.7005

 Table 9: Concordance correlation coefficient¹²⁴

C. DISCUSSION AND CONCUSIONS

We present a fully automated methodology for calculation of the CPA from liver biopsy images from patients with HCV. This methodology is based on consecutive application of clustering and classification algorithms and was designed to be completely automated and in view of avoiding threshold-based decisions. Moreover, the stages of the methodology are optimized with regards to computational time.

The total CPA absolute error in all different algorithms varied between 1.29% (KM/NN) and 2.04% (FCM/SVM). In the subset of images with CPA \leq 10%, both mean CPA error and CPA error standard deviation were < 0.75%. (Table 8) For patients with CPA \leq 10%, CPA error less than 1 was considered sufficient according to our expert opinion.

Moreover, as already mentioned, the calculated concordance correlation coefficient (CCC) values were high. In particular, with the use of KM clustering algorithm, KM/KNN and KM/NN correlation achieved CCC values higher than 0.9 (0.9152 and 0.9229 respectively), whilst KM/DT combination was close to 0.9 (0.8991). With the use of the FCM algorithm, four out of the six correlation combinations achieved CCC values as high as 0.9231 recorded in FCM/NN combination, which was also the overall best result. **(Figure 26)**



Figure 26: CPA & calculated from the methodology CPA using FCM and NN algorithms for all images, sorted in an increasing CPA value¹²⁴

In total, the obtained results showed less than 0.73% CPA error for CPA $\leq 10\%$ in 7 out of the 12 approaches, as well as CCC values >0.89, underpinning the robustness of our proposed methodology.

As already mentioned, the methodology was designed in view of avoiding threshold-based analysis, which involves manual testing and human interaction. In literature, manual threshold setting and manual region selection and removal are more commonly used to separate the tissue/background and identify liver regions respectively. In our methodology a clustering algorithm and feature selection and classification approach was used instead^{127–130}.

The only threshold used was the 500 pixels limit, which excludes from the study very small images. This step was included in order to accelerate stage 2 as the 500 pixels threshold is used there as well. In stage 2 though, the process is computationally more time consuming and costly. In case those very small images make it to stage 3 of the methodology, their impact in the final CPA estimation is limited given their size. The minimization/elimination of threshold-based image analysis contributes to the development of a methodology exempting subjective decisions. Moreover, in stages 1 and 3 (clustering stages) the liver tissue pixels/ background pixels average ration was 0.201 in stage 1 and the corresponding average ration of fibrosis pixels / liver tissue pixels was 0.058 in stage 3, producing accurate results despite being applied to unbalanced datasets.

This methodology is, as already commented on, designed to optimize processing time. That is due to several reasons: (a) low - resolution images are being processed, where all the tissue from each sample is included in a sole photograph. (b) 9 x 9 areas are used for the generation of the centroids of the liver tissue and background clusters in stage 1, allowing accelerating the centroid calculation procedure. The final clustering is created pixel by pixel. (c) 500 pixels is used as threshold, significantly accelerating stage 2, as it considerably decreases that number of regions that require classification. These mostly correspond to noise, but even in the event that they correspond to liver tissue, they are highly fragmented and should be excluded from the calculation. (d) The main advantage of the methodology is that it is entirely automated.

All other methods used in literature require manual threshold selection or area selection^{127,127–129,131}. In the case of area selection, additional time is required from merging multiple images, which necessitates either very sophisticated equipment or further more time.

Additionally, our proposed methodology employs liver biopsy images and analyses them in order to automatically calculate CPA. Liver biopsy images have been clinically validated many times in the past two decades and are considered as a medical index. qFibrosis is a new proposed index though is yet to be validated¹³¹.

In conclusion, we present a fast operating fully automated methodology of image analysis. This can be easily applied in order to obtain low-resolution liver biopsy images in order to extract CPA and can be used in daily clinical practice. The methodology has proven to be very accurate when CPA is <10%, as shown by the mean absolute CPA error, absolute CPA error and standard deviation. However, in cases with CPA >10%, the results indicated lower accuracy. The FCM/NN combination was 4.30% with a 6.18% absolute CPA error standard deviation. This was largely due to the large fibrotic areas within the liver tissue, which are normally manually removed before calculating the CPA.

This study aimed on looking into the automatic calculation of liver fibrosis in patients with HBV as well. Regarding these patients, a similar digital image analysis (DIA) (adjusted for handling liver biopsy images from patients with hepatitis B) was applied. More specifically, in this study we tried to identify fibrosis cutoff in HBeAg negative patients with moderate fibrosis in requiring treatment, as this has not been defined by any staging system. We used 84 biopsies from treatment naïve patients with HBV DNA<20,000IU/mL and ALT<2 ULN. Those were retrospectively evaluated using DIA expressed as CPA and the Ishak system. For the CPA, binary logistics were used adjusted for age/gender, alcohol use, body mass index, diabetes mellitus (DM), AST, ALT, ALP, γ GT, bilirubin, albumin, viral load and platelet count. Sensitivity and specificity of the CPA were assessed with the correlation coefficient and the ROC curve. Our cohort of patients had median age of 49 years, 56 were males, 29 reported alcohol use, 19 had diabetes mellitus, their median BMI was 23, median viral load 13.500 IU/ml and median ALT of 54IU/L. The median stage was 2.5 (1-5) and the CPA 5.67% (2-12.6). Age, alcohol, γ GT and DM were as univariates associated with stage \geq 3. Only γ GT could multivarietly predict stage \geq 3, with a p value of

0.045, exp(B) 1.03, 95% CI (0.996-1.058). The median CPA for stage 1 was 3.2% (2-5.6) calculated in a total of 22 patients, for stage 2: 3.9% (2.2-9.5) in 25 patients, stage 3: 5.76% (2.7-11) in 17 patients, stage 4: 9.1% (5.9-12) in 13 patients and for stage 5: 10.1% (7.7-12.6) in 7 patients. For the correlation with stage \geq 3 AUROC was 0.85 (95% CI 0.76-0.94). Spearman's Rho was 0.73 (p=0.001). CPA 5% was linked with stage \geq 3 with sensitivity of 80% and specificity 84%. Based on this CPA cutoff 14% (3 of 22) of patients with Ishak stage 1 and 28% (7 of 25) with Ishak stage 2 had significant fibrosis but had not received treatment as per guidelines. For stage 1 and 2 patients, 1 out of 3 and 4 out of 7 respectively were initiated on treatment within 2 years after the liver biopsy due to an increase in viral load (>20,000 IU/ml).

Based on the above, we concluded that there was good correlation found between CPA measurements and Ishak's stage in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Nevertheless, CPA captured stage 1 and 2 patients with similar collagen content to stage 3. Thus, further evaluation of CPA is required to identify treatment thresholds in patients with chronic hepatitis B using the same DIA technique as in patients with HCV. Also, the same technique could be used and in many other chronic liver diseases as well as in skin diseases etc.

D. ABSTRACT

Extraction of collagen proportionate area (CPA) in liver biopsy images provides the amount of fibrosis in liver tissue. This is the most distinguishing histological feature in viral hepatitis. Staging is currently based on semi-quantitative scores, such as the Ishak and METAVIR. CPA calculation based upon image analysis techniques has since proven to be more accurate than semi-quantitative scores. Though, lack of standardization and robust methodologies for assessment of computerized image analysis for CPA has proven to be a major limitation and hence CPA has not yet reached daily clinical practice.

This current work proposes a fully automated methodology for CPA extraction. It is based on machine learning techniques and is composed by three stages. In particular, background tissue separation and fibrosis detection in regions of liver tissue has been performed with the use of clustering algorithms. Classification algorithms have also been employed in order to differentiate between liver tissue regions and non-liver tissue regions, such as structural collagen, muscle tissue and blot clots. The non-liver tissue regions have been then excluded from the CPA computation.

The methodology was evaluated with the use of 79 liver biopsy images from patients with hepatitis C. The obtained mean absolute CPA error was 1.31% with a concordance correlation coefficient of 0.923.

Manual threshold-based and region selection processes, which are widely used in literature, are being avoided with the proposed methodology. Moreover, the CPA calculation time is minimized.

In regards to the use of the technique in patients with hepatitis B, we concluded that digital image analysis requires further evaluation.

Ε. ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ (ΕΚΤΕΤΑΜΕΝΗ ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ) ΣΤΗΝ ΕΛΛΗΝΙΚΗ ΓΛΩΣΣΑ

Η ποσοτικοποίηση του κολλαγόνου ως αναλογία κολλαγόνου στη βιοψία ήπατος (Collagen Proportionate Area – CPA) σε βιοψίες ήπατος παρέχει το βαθμό της ηπατικής ίνωσης. Αυτό αποτελεί το πιο τυπικό ιστολογικό χαρακτηριστικό στις ιογενείς ηπατίτιδες. Η σταδιοποίηση επί του παρόντος βασίζεται σε ημιποσοτικά συστήματα ταξινόμησης, όπως το Ishak και το METAVIR. Ο υπολογισμός της CPA με τεχνικές ανάλυσης εικόνων αποδείχτηκε πιο ακριβής σε σύγκριση με τα ημιποσοτικά συστήματα ταξινόμησης. Ωστόσο, η έλλειψη τυποποίησης και ισχυρών μεθοδολογιών για την αξιολόγιση της ψηφιακής ανάλυσης εικόνων για CPA αποτελεί σημαντικό περιοριστικό παράγοντα και ως εκ τούτου η CPA δεν χρησιμοποιείται ακόμα στην καθημερινή κλινική πρακτική.

Η παρούσα εργασία προτείνει μια πλήρως αυτοματοποιημένη μεθοδολογία για την εξαγωγή της CPA, η οποία βασίζεται σε τεχνικές μηχανικής μάθησης (machine learning) και περιλαμβάνει τρία στάδια. Πιο συγκεκριμένα, ο διαχωρισμός του φόντου από τους ιστούς όπως επίσης και η ανίχνευση ίνωσης σε περιοχές (regions) ηπατικού ιστού πραγματοποιήθηκε με τη χρήση αλγόριθμων ομαδοποίησης (clustering algorithms). Για το διαχωρισμό περιοχών ηπατικού από μη ηπατικούς ιστούς, όπως για παράδειγμα δομικό κολλαγόνο, μυικό ιστό και θρόμβους αίματος, χρησιμοποιήθηκαν αλγόριθμοι κατηγοριοποίησης (classification algorithms). Στη συνέχεια, οι περιοχές μη ηπατικού ιστού ιστού αποκλείστηκαν από τον υπολογισμό της CPA.

Η μεθοδολογία αξιολογήθηκε με τη χρήση 79 εικόνων από ηπατικούς ιστούς ασθενών με ηπατίτιδα C. Το μέσο απόλυτο σφάλμα (mean absolute error) υπολογίστηκε σε 1.31% ενώ ο συντελεστής συμφωνίας συσχέτισης (concordance correlation coefficient) σε 0.923.

Στην υπάρχουσα βιβλιογραφία η επιλογή περιοχών αλλά και η εισαγωγή ορίων πραγματοποιείται με χειροκίνητες διαδικασίες. Οι διαδικασίες αυτές αποφεύγονται με την προτεινόμενη μεθοδολογία. Επιπλέον, ο χρόνος υπολογισμού του CPA περιορίζεται στον ελάχιστο δυνατό.

Όσον αφορά τη χρήση της τεχνικής σε ασθενείς με ηπατίτιδα Β, καταλήξαμε στο ότι απαιτείται περαιτέρω εκτίμηση.

F. REFERENCES

- 1. Mahadevan V. Anatomy of the liver. Surg Oxf [Internet]. 2014 Nov [cited 2019 Apr 18]; Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0263931914002191
- 2. Moore KL, Dalley AF, Agur AMR. Clinically oriented anatomy. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health; 2014. 1134 p.
- 3. Morgan R. Atlas of Gastrointestinal Surgery, 2nd edn, Volume 1. J. L. Cameron and C. Sandone (eds). 263 × 338 mm. Pp. 552. Illustrated. 2007. BC Decker: Hamilton, Ontario. Br J Surg. 2008 Mar;95(3):402–402.
- 4. Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brandt LJ, editors. Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease: pathophysiology/diagnosis/management. Tenth edition. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders/Elsevier; 2016. 2 p.
- 5. Marieb EN, Hoehn K. Human anatomy & physiology. 9th ed. Boston: Pearson; 2013. 1107 p.
- 6. Gray H, Standring S, Ellis H, Berkovitz BKB. Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice. 2008.
- 7. Hepatitis B. In https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-b;
- 8. Kasper DL, Harrison TR, editors. Harrison's manual of medicine. 16th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical Pub. Division; 2005. 1087 p.
- 9. European Association for the Study of the Liver. Electronic address: easloffice@easloffice.eu, European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol. 2017;67(2):370–98.
- 10. Terrault NA, Lok ASF, McMahon BJ, Chang K-M, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, et al. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology. 2018 Apr;67(4):1560–99.
- 11. van der Meer AJ, Veldt BJ, Feld JJ, Wedemeyer H, Dufour J-F, Lammert F, et al. Association Between Sustained Virological Response and All-Cause Mortality Among Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C and Advanced Hepatic Fibrosis. JAMA. 2012 Dec 26;308(24):2584.
- Swain MG, Lai M, Shiffman ML, Cooksley WGE, Zeuzem S, Dieterich DT, et al. A Sustained Virologic Response Is Durable in Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C Treated With Peginterferon Alfa-2a and Ribavirin. Gastroenterology. 2010 Nov;139(5):1593–601.
- 13. Manns MP, Pockros PJ, Norkrans G, Smith CI, Morgan TR, Häussinger D, et al. Long-term clearance of hepatitis C virus following interferon α -2b or peginterferon α -2b, alone or in combination with ribavirin. J Viral Hepat. 2013 Aug;20(8):524–9.
- Robertson B, Myers G, Howard C, Brettin T, Bukh J, Gaschen B, et al. Classification, nomenclature, and database development for hepatitis C virus (HCV) and related viruses: proposals for standardization. International Committee on Virus Taxonomy. Arch Virol. 1998;143(12):2493–503.

- 15. Rice CM. New insights into HCV replication: potential antiviral targets. Top Antivir Med. 2011 Sep;19(3):117–20.
- 16. Pawlotsky J-M. Hepatitis C virus genetic variability: pathogenic and clinical implications. Clin Liver Dis. 2003 Feb;7(1):45–66.
- 17. Neumann AU, Lam NP, Dahari H, Gretch DR, Wiley TE, Layden TJ, et al. Hepatitis C viral dynamics in vivo and the antiviral efficacy of interferon-alpha therapy. Science. 1998 Oct 2;282(5386):103–7.
- 18. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol. 2011 Aug;55(2):245–64.
- 19. Domingo E, Sheldon J, Perales C. Viral quasispecies evolution. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev MMBR. 2012 Jun;76(2):159–216.
- 20. Farci P, Shimoda A, Coiana A, Diaz G, Peddis G, Melpolder JC, et al. The outcome of acute hepatitis C predicted by the evolution of the viral quasispecies. Science. 2000 Apr 14;288(5464):339–44.
- 21. Burke KP, Cox AL. Hepatitis C virus evasion of adaptive immune responses: a model for viral persistence. Immunol Res. 2010 Jul;47(1–3):216–27.
- 22. Sheridan I, Pybus OG, Holmes EC, Klenerman P. High-Resolution Phylogenetic Analysis of Hepatitis C Virus Adaptation and Its Relationship to Disease Progression. J Virol. 2004 Apr 1;78(7):3447–54.
- 23. Simmonds P. The origin of hepatitis C virus. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2013;369:1–15.
- 24. Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2013 Apr;57(4):1333–42.
- 25. Cox AL, Thomas DL. Hepatitis C Virus Vaccines Among People Who Inject Drugs. Clin Infect Dis. 2013 Aug 15;57(suppl_2):S46–50.
- 26. Cornberg M, Razavi HA, Alberti A, Bernasconi E, Buti M, Cooper C, et al. A systematic review of hepatitis C virus epidemiology in Europe, Canada and Israel. Liver Int Off J Int Assoc Study Liver. 2011 Jul;31 Suppl 2:30–60.
- 27. Sulkowski MS, Ray SC, Thomas DL. Needlestick transmission of hepatitis C. JAMA. 2002 May 8;287(18):2406–13.
- 28. De Carli G, Puro V, Ippolito G, Studio Italiano Rischio Occupazionale da HIV Group. Risk of hepatitis C virus transmission following percutaneous exposure in healthcare workers. Infection. 2003 Dec;31 Suppl 2:22–7.
- 29. Kubitschke A, Bahr MJ, Aslan N, Bader C, Tillmann HL, Sarrazin C, et al. Induction of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific T cells by needle stick injury in the absence of HCV-viraemia. Eur J Clin Invest. 2007 Jan;37(1):54–64.
- 30. Terrault NA, Dodge JL, Murphy EL, Tavis JE, Kiss A, Levin TR, et al. Sexual transmission of hepatitis C virus among monogamous heterosexual couples: the HCV partners study. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2013 Mar;57(3):881–9.

- 31. Blackard JT, Shata MT, Shire NJ, Sherman KE. Acute hepatitis C virus infection: A chronic problem. Hepatology. 2007 Dec 27;47(1):321–31.
- 32. Bradshaw D, Matthews G, Danta M. Sexually transmitted hepatitis C infection. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2012 Dec;1-.
- 33. Gibb DM, Goodall RL, Dunn DT, Healy M, Neave P, Cafferkey M, et al. Mother-tochild transmission of hepatitis C virus: evidence for preventable peripartum transmission. Lancet Lond Engl. 2000 Sep 9;356(9233):904–7.
- 34. Conte D, Fraquelli M, Prati D, Colucci A, Minola E. Prevalence and clinical course of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and rate of HCV vertical transmission in a cohort of 15,250 pregnant women. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2000 Mar;31(3):751–5.
- 35. Ghany MG, Nelson DR, Strader DB, Thomas DL, Seeff LB, American Association for Study of Liver Diseases. An update on treatment of genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C virus infection: 2011 practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2011 Oct;54(4):1433–44.
- 36. Mosley JW, Operskalski EA, Tobler LH, Andrews WW, Phelps B, Dockter J, et al. Viral and host factors in early hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2005 Jul;42(1):86–92.
- 37. Deterding K, Wiegand J, Grüner N, Hahn A, Jäckel E, Jung M, et al. The German Hep-Net Acute Hepatitis C Cohort: Impact of Viral and Host Factors on the Initial Presentation of Acute Hepatitis C Virus Infection. Z Für Gastroenterol. 2009 Jun;47(06):531–40.
- Tillmann HL, Thompson AJ, Patel K, Wiese M, Tenckhoff H, Nischalke HD, et al. A Polymorphism Near IL28B Is Associated With Spontaneous Clearance of Acute Hepatitis C Virus and Jaundice. Gastroenterology. 2010 Nov;139(5):1586-1592.e1.
- 39. Puoti C. Should we treat HCV carriers with normal ALT levels? The "5Ws" dilemma. J Viral Hepat. (19):229–35.
- 40. Peveling-Oberhag J, Arcaini L, Hansmann M-L, Zeuzem S. Hepatitis C-associated B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Epidemiology, molecular signature and clinical management. J Hepatol. 2013 Jul;59(1):169–77.
- 41. Ferri C, Sebastiani M, Antonelli A, Colaci M, Manfredi A, Giuggioli D. Current treatment of hepatitis C-associated rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012;14(3):215.
- 42. Alborino F, Burighel A, Tiller F-W, van Helden J, Gabriel C, Raineri A, et al. Multicenter evaluation of a fully automated third-generation anti-HCV antibody screening test with excellent sensitivity and specificity. Med Microbiol Immunol (Berl). 2011 May;200(2):77–83.
- 43. Submitted Version [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 27]. Available from: https://www.hal.inserm.fr/inserm-00699942/file/Chevaliez-final.pdf
- 44. Knodell RG, Ishak KG, Black WC, Chen TS, Craig R, Kaplowitz N, et al. Formulation and application of a numerical scoring system for assessing histological activity in asymptomatic chronic active hepatitis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1981 Oct;1(5):431–5.

- 45. Scheuer PJ. Classification of chronic viral hepatitis: a need for reassessment. J Hepatol. 1991 Nov;13(3):372–4.
- 46. Ishak K, Baptista A, Bianchi L, Callea F, De Groote J, Gudat F, et al. Histological grading and staging of chronic hepatitis. J Hepatol. 1995 Jun;22(6):696–9.
- 47. Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 1996 Aug;24(2):289–93.
- 48. Regev A, Berho M, Jeffers LJ, Milikowski C, Molina EG, Pyrsopoulos NT, et al. Sampling error and intraobserver variation in liver biopsy in patients with chronic HCV infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002 Oct;97(10):2614–8.
- 49. Imbert-Bismut F, Ratziu V, Pieroni L, Charlotte F, Benhamou Y, Poynard T. Biochemical markers of liver fibrosis in patients with hepatitis C virus infection: a prospective study. The Lancet. 2001 Apr;357(9262):1069–75.
- 50. Manning DS, Afdhal NH. Diagnosis and Quantitation of Fibrosis. Gastroenterology. 2008 May;134(6):1670–81.
- 51. Wai C. A simple noninvasive index can predict both significant fibrosis and cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2003 Aug;38(2):518–26.
- 52. Dietrich C, Bamber J, Berzigotti A, Bota S, Cantisani V, Castera L, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines and Recommendations on the Clinical Use of Liver Ultrasound Elastography, Update 2017 (Short Version). Ultraschall Med - Eur J Ultrasound. 2017 Aug;38(04):377–94.
- 53. Friedrich–Rust M, Ong M, Martens S, Sarrazin C, Bojunga J, Zeuzem S, et al. Performance of Transient Elastography for the Staging of Liver Fibrosis: A Meta-Analysis. Gastroenterology. 2008 Apr;134(4):960-974.e8.
- 54. Castera L. Noninvasive Methods to Assess Liver Disease in Patients With Hepatitis B or C. Gastroenterology. 2012 May;142(6):1293-1302.e4.
- 55. Sebastiani G, Halfon P, Castera L, Pol S, Thomas DL, Mangia A, et al. SAFE biopsy: A validated method for large-scale staging of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2009 Jun;49(6):1821–7.
- 56. Thein H-H, Yi Q, Dore GJ, Krahn MD. Estimation of stage-specific fibrosis progression rates in chronic hepatitis C virus infection: A meta-analysis and meta-regression. Hepatology. 2008 Aug;48(2):418–31.
- 57. Maasoumy B, Wedemeyer H. Natural history of acute and chronic hepatitis C. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012 Aug;26(4):401–12.
- 58. Perz JF, Armstrong GL, Farrington LA, Hutin YJF, Bell BP. The contributions of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer worldwide. J Hepatol. 2006 Oct;45(4):529–38.
- 59. Vogt M, Lang T, Frösner G, Klingler C, Sendl AF, Zeller A, et al. Prevalence and Clinical Outcome of Hepatitis C Infection in Children Who Underwent Cardiac Surgery before the Implementation of Blood-Donor Screening. N Engl J Med. 1999 Sep 16;341(12):866–70.

- 60. Pradat P, Voirin N, Tillmann HL, Chevallier M, Trépo C. Progression to cirrhosis in hepatitis C patients: an age-dependent process. Liver Int. 2007 Apr;27(3):335–9.
- 61. Martino VD, Lebray P, Myers RP, Pannier E, Paradis V, Charlotte F, et al. Progression of liver fibrosis in women infected with hepatitis C: Long-term benefit of estrogen exposure. Hepatology. 2004 Dec;40(6):1426–33.
- 62. Hui C-K, Belaye T, Montegrande K, Wright TL. A comparison in the progression of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C between persistently normal and elevated transaminase. J Hepatol. 2003 Apr;38(4):511–7.
- 63. Probst A, Dang T, Bochud M, Egger M, Negro F, Bochud P-Y. Role of Hepatitis C virus genotype 3 in liver fibrosis progression a systematic review and metaanalysis: HCV genotype 3 and fibrosis progression. J Viral Hepat. 2011 Nov;18(11):745–59.
- 64. Backus LI, Boothroyd DB, Phillips BR, Belperio P, Halloran J, Mole LA. A Sustained Virologic Response Reduces Risk of All-Cause Mortality in Patients With Hepatitis C. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011 Jun;9(6):509-516.e1.
- 65. Rumi MG. Hepatitis C reactivation in patients with chronic infection with genotypes 1b and 2c: a retrospective cohort study of 206 untreated patients. Gut. 2005 Mar 1;54(3):402–6.
- 66. Freedman ND, Everhart JE, Lindsay KL, Ghany MG, Curto TM, Shiffman ML, et al. Coffee intake is associated with lower rates of liver disease progression in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2009 Nov;50(5):1360–9.
- 67. Tanaka Y, Kurbanov F, Mano S, Orito E, Vargas V, Esteban JI, et al. Molecular Tracing of the Global Hepatitis C Virus Epidemic Predicts Regional Patterns of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Mortality. Gastroenterology. 2006 Mar;130(3):703–14.
- 68. Lok AS, Seeff LB, Morgan TR, di Bisceglie AM, Sterling RK, Curto TM, et al. Incidence of Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Associated Risk Factors in Hepatitis C-Related Advanced Liver Disease. Gastroenterology. 2009 Jan;136(1):138–48.
- 69. Sangiovanni A, Prati GM, Fasani P, Ronchi G, Romeo R, Manini M, et al. The natural history of compensated cirrhosis due to hepatitis C virus: A 17-year cohort study of 214 patients. Hepatology. 2006 Jun;43(6):1303–10.
- 70. Fattovich G, Giustina G, Degos F, Tremolada F, Diodati G, Almasio P, et al. Morbidity and mortality in compensated cirrhosis type C: a retrospective follow-up study of 384 patients. Gastroenterology. 1997 Feb;112(2):463–72.
- 71. Fattovich G, Stroffolini T, Zagni I, Donato F. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: incidence and risk factors. Gastroenterology. 2004 Nov;127(5 Suppl 1):S35-50.
- 72. Benvegnu L. Natural history of compensated viral cirrhosis: a prospective study on the incidence and hierarchy of major complications. Gut. 2004 May 1;53(5):744–9.
- 73. Scheel TKH, Rice CM. Understanding the hepatitis C virus life cycle paves the way for highly effective therapies. Nat Med. 2013 Jul;19(7):837–49.

- 74. D'Ambrosio R, Aghemo A, Rumi MG, Ronchi G, Donato MF, Paradis V, et al. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study to assess the benefit of a sustained virological response in hepatitis C virus patients with cirrhosis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2012 Aug;56(2):532–43.
- 75. Vera-Llonch M, Martin M, Aggarwal J, Donepudi M, Bayliss M, Goss T, et al. Health-related quality of life in genotype 1 treatment-naïve chronic hepatitis C patients receiving telaprevir combination treatment in the ADVANCE study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013 Jul;38(2):124–33.
- 76. Veldt BJ, Heathcote EJ, Wedemeyer H, Reichen J, Hofmann WP, Zeuzem S, et al. Sustained virologic response and clinical outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis C and advanced fibrosis. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Nov 20;147(10):677–84.
- 77. Di Bisceglie AM, Shiffman ML, Everson GT, Lindsay KL, Everhart JE, Wright EC, et al. Prolonged Therapy of Advanced Chronic Hepatitis C with Low-Dose Peginterferon. N Engl J Med. 2008 Dec 4;359(23):2429–41.
- 78. Dusheiko G, Wedemeyer H. New protease inhibitors and direct-acting antivirals for hepatitis C: interferon's long goodbye: Table 1. Gut. 2012 Dec;61(12):1647–52.
- 79. Sarrazin C, Hézode C, Zeuzem S, Pawlotsky J-M. Antiviral strategies in hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol. 2012 Jan;56:S88–100.
- 80. Wedemeyer H. On the fast track towards IFN-free therapy for hepatitis C? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013 Feb;10(2):76–8.
- 81. Grebely J, Matthews GV, Dore GJ. Treatment of acute HCV infection. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011 May;8(5):265–74.
- 82. Wiegand J, Deterding K, Cornberg M, Wedemeyer H. Treatment of acute hepatitis C: the success of monotherapy with (pegylated) interferon. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008 Jul 18;62(5):860–5.
- 83. Mangia A, Santoro R, Copetti M, Massari M, Piazzolla V, Spada E, et al. Treatment optimization and prediction of HCV clearance in patients with acute HCV infection. J Hepatol. 2013 Aug;59(2):221–8.
- Beinhardt S, Aberle JH, Strasser M, Dulic–Lakovic E, Maieron A, Kreil A, et al. Serum Level of IP-10 Increases Predictive Value of IL28B Polymorphisms for Spontaneous Clearance of Acute HCV Infection. Gastroenterology. 2012 Jan;142(1):78-85.e2.
- 85. Deterding K, Grüner N, Buggisch P, Wiegand J, Galle PR, Spengler U, et al. Delayed versus immediate treatment for patients with acute hepatitis C: a randomised controlled non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013 Jun;13(6):497–506.
- 86. Boesecke C, Wedemeyer H, Rockstroh JK. Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute Hepatitis C Virus Infection. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2012 Dec;26(4):995–1010.
- Vliegen I, Paeshuyse J, De Burghgraeve T, Lehman LS, Paulson M, Shih I-H, et al. Substituted imidazopyridines as potent inhibitors of HCV replication. J Hepatol. 2009 May;50(5):999–1009.

- 88. Ohara E, Hiraga N, Imamura M, Iwao E, Kamiya N, Yamada I, et al. Elimination of hepatitis C virus by short term NS3-4A and NS5B inhibitor combination therapy in human hepatocyte chimeric mice. J Hepatol. 2011 May;54(5):872–8.
- 89. AASLD-IDSA HCV Guidance Panel, Chung RT, Ghany MG, Kim AY, Marks KM, Naggie S, et al. Hepatitis C Guidance 2018 Update: AASLD-IDSA Recommendations for Testing, Managing, and Treating Hepatitis C Virus Infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2018 Oct 30;67(10):1477–92.
- 90. Anthony PP, Ishak KG, Nayak NC, Poulsen HE, Scheuer PJ, Sobin LH. The morphology of cirrhosis: definition, nomenclature, and classification. Bull World Health Organ. 1977;55(4):521–40.
- 91. Lee UE, Friedman SL. Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2011 Apr;25(2):195–206.
- 92. Robic MA, Procopet B, Métivier S, Péron JM, Selves J, Vinel JP, et al. Liver stiffness accurately predicts portal hypertension related complications in patients with chronic liver disease: A prospective study. J Hepatol. 2011 Nov;55(5):1017–24.
- 93. Crespo G, Fernández-Varo G, Mariño Z, Casals G, Miquel R, Martínez SM, et al. ARFI, FibroScan®, ELF, and their combinations in the assessment of liver fibrosis: A prospective study. J Hepatol. 2012 Aug;57(2):281–7.
- 94. Asrani SK, Kamath PS. Natural History of Cirrhosis. Curr Gastroenterol Rep [Internet]. 2013 Feb [cited 2019 May 27];15(2). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11894-012-0308-y
- 95. Ferlitsch M, Reiberger T, Hoke M, Salzl P, Schwengerer B, Ulbrich G, et al. Von Willebrand factor as new noninvasive predictor of portal hypertension, decompensation and mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2012 Oct;56(4):1439–47.
- 96. Jepsen P, Ott P, Andersen PK, Sørensen HT, Vilstrup H. Clinical course of alcoholic liver cirrhosis: A Danish population-based cohort study. Hepatology. 2010 May;51(5):1675–82.
- 97. Jepsen P, Ott P, Andersen PK, Sørensen HT, Vilstrup H. Risk for Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Patients With Alcoholic Cirrhosis: A Danish Nationwide Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Jun 19;156(12):841.
- 98. Villa E, Cammà C, Marietta M, Luongo M, Critelli R, Colopi S, et al. Enoxaparin Prevents Portal Vein Thrombosis and Liver Decompensation in Patients With Advanced Cirrhosis. Gastroenterology. 2012 Nov;143(5):1253-1260.e4.
- 99. Iredale JP. Models of liver fibrosis: exploring the dynamic nature of inflammation and repair in a solid organ. J Clin Invest. 2007 Mar 1;117(3):539–48.
- 100. Schuppan D, Pinzani M. Anti-fibrotic therapy: Lost in translation? J Hepatol. 2012 Jan;56:S66-74.
- 101. Standish RA. An appraisal of the histopathological assessment of liver fibrosis. Gut. 2006 Apr 1;55(4):569–78.

- 102. Dufour JF, DeLellis R, Kaplan MM. Regression of hepatic fibrosis in hepatitis C with long-term interferon treatment. Dig Dis Sci. 1998 Dec;43(12):2573–6.
- 103. Bedossa P, Carrat F. Liver biopsy: The best, not the gold standard. J Hepatol. 2009 Jan;50(1):1–3.
- 104. Poynard T, Mathurin P, Lai C-L, Guyader D, Poupon R, Tainturier M-H, et al. A comparison of fibrosis progression in chronic liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2003 Mar;38(3):257–65.
- 105. Intraobserver and interobserver variations in liver biopsy interpretation in patients with chronic hepatitis C. The French METAVIR Cooperative Study Group. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1994 Jul;20(1 Pt 1):15–20.
- 106. Westin J, Lagging LM, Wejstål R, Norkrans G, Dhillon AP. Interobserver study of liver histopathology using the Ishak score in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Liver. 1999 Jun;19(3):183–7.
- 107. Goldin RD, Goldin JG, Burt AD, Dhillon PA, Hubscher S, Wyatt J, et al. Intraobserver and inter-observer variation in the histopathological assessment of chronic viral hepatitis. J Hepatol. 1996 Nov;25(5):649–54.
- 108. Rousselet M-C, Michalak S, Dupré F, Croué A, Bedossa P, Saint-André J-P, et al. Sources of variability in histological scoring of chronic viral hepatitis. Hepatology. 2005 Feb;41(2):257–64.
- 109. Scheuer PJ, Standish RA, Dhillon AP. Scoring of chronic hepatitis. Clin Liver Dis. 2002 May;6(2):335–47, v–vi.
- 110. Colloredo G, Guido M, Sonzogni A, Leandro G. Impact of liver biopsy size on histological evaluation of chronic viral hepatitis: the smaller the sample, the milder the disease. J Hepatol. 2003 Aug;39(2):239–44.
- 111. Siddique I, El-Naga HA, Madda JP, Memon A, Hasan F. Sampling variability on percutaneous liver biopsy in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2003 Apr;38(4):427–32.
- Persico M, Palmentieri B, Vecchione R, Torella R, Sio I. Diagnosis of chronic liver disease: reproducibility and validation of liver biopsy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002 Feb;97(2):491–2.
- 113. Lefkowitch JH. Scheuer's Liver Biopsy Interpretation. [Internet]. London: Elsevier Health Sciences UK; 2015 [cited 2019 Jun 2]. Available from: http://www.myilibrary.com?id=816900
- 114. Cabibi D, Bronte F, Porcasi R, Ingrao S, Giannone AG, Maida M, et al. Comparison of Histochemical Stainings in Evaluation of Liver Fibrosis and Correlation with Transient Elastography in Chronic Hepatitis. Anal Cell Pathol. 2015;2015:1–7.
- 115. Puchtler H, Meloan SN, Waldrop FS. Are picro-dye reactions for collagens quantitative? Chemical and histochemical considerations. Histochemistry. 1988;88(3-6):243-56.
- 116. Rojkind M, Ponce-Noyola P. The extracellular matrix of the liver. Coll Relat Res. 1982 Mar;2(2):151–75.

- 117. Kage M, Shimamatu K, Nakashima E, Kojiro M, Inoue O, Yano M. Long-term evolution of fibrosis from chronic hepatitis to cirrhosis in patients with hepatitis C: Morphometric analysis of repeated biopsies. Hepatology. 1997 Apr;25(4):1028–31.
- 118. Duchatelle V, Marcellin P, Giostra E, Bregeaud L, Pouteau M, Boyer N, et al. Changes in liver fibrosis at the end of alpha interferon therapy and 6 to 18 months later in patients with chronic hepatitis C: quantitative assessment by a morphometric method. J Hepatol. 1998 Jul;29(1):20–8.
- 119. Pilette C, Rousselet MC, Bedossa P, Chappard D, Oberti F, Rifflet H, et al. Histopathological evaluation of liver fibrosis: quantitative image analysis vs semi-quantitative scores. Comparison with serum markers. J Hepatol. 1998 Mar;28(3):439–46.
- 120. Masseroli M, Caballero T, O'Valle F, Del Moral RM, Pérez-Milena A, Del Moral RG. Automatic quantification of liver fibrosis: design and validation of a new image analysis method: comparison with semi-quantitative indexes of fibrosis. J Hepatol. 2000 Mar;32(3):453–64.
- 121. Manabe N, Chevallier M, Chossegros P, Causse X, Guerret S, Trépo C, et al. Interferon-alpha 2b therapy reduces liver fibrosis in chronic non-A, non-B hepatitis: a quantitative histological evaluation. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1993 Dec;18(6):1344–9.
- 122. O'Brien MJ, Keating NM, Elderiny S, Cerda S, Keaveny AP, Afdhal NH, et al. An Assessment of Digital Image Analysis to Measure Fibrosis in Liver Biopsy Specimens of Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C. Am J Clin Pathol. 2000 Nov 1;114(5):712–8.
- 123. Giannakeas N, Tsipouras MG, Tzallas AT, Kyriakidi K, Tsianou ZE, Manousou P, et al. A clustering based method for collagen proportional area extraction in liver biopsy images. In: Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2015 37th Annual International Conference of the IEEE [Internet]. IEEE; 2015 [cited 2017 May 1]. p. 3097–3100. Available from: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7319047/
- 124. Tsipouras MG, Giannakeas N, Tzallas AT, Tsianou ZE, Manousou P, Hall A, et al. A methodology for automated CPA extraction using liver biopsy image analysis and machine learning techniques. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2017 Mar;140:61–8.
- 125. Bishop CM. Neural networks for pattern recognition. Oxford : New York: Clarendon Press ; Oxford University Press; 1995. 482 p.
- 126. Kantardzic M. Data mining: concepts, models, methods, and algorithms. 2nd ed. Hoboken, N.J: John Wiley : IEEE Press; 2011. 534 p.
- 127. Calvaruso V, Burroughs AK, Standish R, Manousou P, Grillo F, Leandro G, et al. Computer-assisted image analysis of liver collagen: Relationship to Ishak scoring and hepatic venous pressure gradient. Hepatology. 2009 Apr;49(4):1236–44.

- 128. Manousou P, Dhillon AP, Isgro G, Calvaruso V, Luong TV, Tsochatzis E, et al. Digital image analysis of liver collagen predicts clinical outcome of recurrent hepatitis C Virus 1 year after liver transplantation. Liver Transpl. 2011 Feb;17(2):178–88.
- 129. Huang Y, de Boer WB, Adams LA, MacQuillan G, Rossi E, Rigby P, et al. Image analysis of liver collagen using sirius red is more accurate and correlates better with serum fibrosis markers than trichrome. Liver Int. 2013 Sep;33(8):1249–56.
- 130. Calvaruso V, Dhillon AP, Tsochatzis E, Manousou P, Grillo F, Germani G, et al. Liver collagen proportionate area predicts decompensation in patients with recurrent hepatitis C virus cirrhosis after liver transplantation. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012 Jul;27(7):1227–32.
- 131. Xu S, Wang Y, Tai DCS, Wang S, Cheng CL, Peng Q, et al. qFibrosis: A fullyquantitative innovative method incorporating histological features to facilitate accurate fibrosis scoring in animal model and chronic hepatitis B patients. J Hepatol. 2014 Aug;61(2):260–9.